Kent Academic Repository

Full text document (pdf)

Citation for published version

Karamanos, TK and Kalverda, AP and Thompson, GS and Radford, SE (2015) Mechanisms of amyloid formation revealed by solution NMR. Progress in Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy, 2015. pp. 86-104. ISSN 0079-6565.

DOI

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnmrs.2015.05.002

Link to record in KAR

https://kar.kent.ac.uk/71797/

Document Version

Publisher pdf

Copyright & reuse

Content in the Kent Academic Repository is made available for research purposes. Unless otherwise stated all content is protected by copyright and in the absence of an open licence (eg Creative Commons), permissions for further reuse of content should be sought from the publisher, author or other copyright holder.

Versions of research

The version in the Kent Academic Repository may differ from the final published version. Users are advised to check http://kar.kent.ac.uk for the status of the paper. Users should always cite the published version of record.

Enquiries

For any further enquiries regarding the licence status of this document, please contact: **researchsupport@kent.ac.uk**

If you believe this document infringes copyright then please contact the KAR admin team with the take-down information provided at http://kar.kent.ac.uk/contact.html





Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Progress in Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/pnmrs



Mechanisms of amyloid formation revealed by solution NMR



Theodoros K. Karamanos*, Arnout P. Kalverda, Gary S. Thompson, Sheena E. Radford*

Astbury Centre for Structural Molecular Biology and School of Molecular and Cellular Biology, University of Leeds, Leeds LS2 9JT, United Kingdom

Edited by David Neuhaus and David Gadian

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 25 March 2015 Accepted 18 May 2015 Available online 27 May 2015

Keywords: NMR spectroscopy Amyloid fibrils Invisible states Intrisically disordered proteins Dynamic interactions

ABSTRACT

Amyloid fibrils are proteinaceous elongated aggregates involved in more than fifty human diseases. Recent advances in electron microscopy and solid state NMR have allowed the characterization of fibril structures to different extents of refinement. However, structural details about the mechanism of fibril formation remain relatively poorly defined. This is mainly due to the complex, heterogeneous and transient nature of the species responsible for assembly; properties that make them difficult to detect and characterize in structural detail using biophysical techniques. The ability of solution NMR spectroscopy to investigate exchange between multiple protein states, to characterize transient and low-population species, and to study high molecular weight assemblies, render NMR an invaluable technique for studies of amyloid assembly. In this article we review state-of-the-art solution NMR methods for investigations of: (a) protein dynamics that lead to the formation of aggregation-prone species; (b) amyloidogenic intrinsically disordered proteins; and (c) protein–protein interactions on pathway to fibril formation. Together, these topics highlight the power and potential of NMR to provide atomic level information about the molecular mechanisms of one of the most fascinating problems in structural biology. © 2015 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://

creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction	86
	1.1. Challenges in studying aggregation-prone proteins by NMR	. 87
2.	Studying intermediate species that act as amyloidogenic precursors	. 88
	2.1. Conformational dynamics investigated by relaxation-dispersion NMR	. 88
	2.2. Characterization of amyloidogenic intermediates using real-time NMR	. 89
	2.3. H/D exchange studies on folded amyloid precursors	. 89
3.	The role of disorder in amyloid aggregation	91
	3.1. Chemical shifts probe transient secondary structure propensity	. 91
	3.2. Paramagnetic relaxation enhancement (PRE)	. 91
	3.3. Residual dipolar couplings reveal residual structure in unfolded proteins	. 93
	3.4. Ensemble calculations – the importance of incorporating a plethora of data	. 94
4.	Investigating interactions in higher-order species on pathway to amyloid fibrils using NMR	95
	4.1. Direct detection of oligomeric intermediates	. 96
	4.2. Dark exchange saturation transfer (DEST)	. 96
	4.3. Visualization of transient protein-protein interactions on pathway to fibril assembly using paramagnetic NMR	. 97
	4.4. H/D exchange in the fibrillar state	. 98
5.	Perspectives	99
	Acknowledgments	99
	References	99

* Corresponding authors. Tel.: +44 (0) 113 343 3270 (T.K. Karamanos), +44 (0) 113 343 3170 (S.E. Radford). *E-mail addresses:* T.Karamanos@leeds.ac.uk (T.K. Karamanos), s.e.radford@leeds.ac.uk (S.E. Radford).

1. Introduction

Amyloid diseases are devastating disorders caused by the polymerization of initially innocuous proteins into amyloid fibrils [1–3]. Amyloid assembly is a multistage process in which complete or partial unfolding of the monomeric precursor is usually (but not always) the triggering event [4,5], generating aggregation-prone species. Alternatively, amyloid assembly may commence from intrinsically disordered peptides or proteins [1]. These amyloidogenic (partially) unfolded monomers are then incorporated in a cascade of protein-protein interactions until the formation of the critical nucleus (nucleation phase, Fig. 1), in a process reminiscent of the early stages of crystallization [6,7]. Later in assembly, after the formation of the critical nucleus, a second conformational change causes the assembling protein to adopt the characteristic cross- β fold of amyloid [1-3,8,9] in a rapid process (elongation phase, Fig. 1). Thus, amyloid assembly (which is commonly monitored by the fluorescence of thioflavin T (ThT) - Fig. 1) is the outcome of rare conformational rearrangements combined with heterogeneous protein-protein interactions that are abnormally interlinked.

Despite the fact that the general features of the amyloid fold (fibrillar morphology and cross- β architecture) shared by all amyloid fibrils were first discovered in the 1950s and 1960s using electron microscopy (EM) [1,14,15] and fiber diffraction studies [6-8,16–18], the precise structural and mechanistic details that govern amyloid formation remain largely elusive. Recent developments in the fields of cryo-electron microscopy, electron tomography and solid-state NMR spectroscopy as well as the use of small peptide fragments in X-ray studies, have allowed the characterization of the cross- β structure of amyloid in near atomic resolution [19–26]. However, the transient and heterogeneous nature of the monomeric and oligomeric species present during assembly render solution NMR the only technique for characterizing these in atomic detail.

In this article we review the contribution that state-of-the art solution NMR methods have made to the investigation of the mechanisms of amyloid assembly using examples obtained in the authors' own laboratory as well as those of others. The review is organized in three parts. After briefly mentioning the challenges in studying amyloidogenic proteins by NMR, we move on to discussing the NMR methods used to characterize the conformational dynamics of the native state that lead to the population of aggregation-prone intermediates. The second part of the review focuses on intrinsically disordered proteins that aggregate into amyloid fibrils and how NMR has been used to study their structural flexibility that drives amyloid formation. To finish, NMR approaches that can be used to study the protein–protein interactions formed in early amyloid precursors and how these species subsequently form higher-ordered species, important for primary or secondary processes (such as secondary nucleation events), are discussed. Overall, the review demonstrates how NMR is contributing to developing a new understanding of every stage of the amyloid cascade at a structural molecular level.

1.1. Challenges in studying aggregation-prone proteins by NMR

NMR studies usually need to be performed on relatively highly concentrated protein samples (0.1-1 mM). For soluble proteins, increased concentration results in improved signal-to-noise ratio. but when studying aggregation-prone proteins, elevated protein concentrations are likely to result in enhanced oligomerisation that can complicate analysis and/or interpretation of an NMR experiment. Self-association also leads to an increase in the effective correlation time for molecular tumbling, causing the NMR signals to become broader or undetectable. Since aggregation is highly dependent on protein concentration and solution conditions, it is important to balance the protein concentration and the experimental acquisition time in order to optimize the sample for analysis by different NMR techniques. Sample quality can be tested at the beginning and the end of each experiment (for instance by recording ¹H-¹⁵N HSQC fingerprint spectra). Another avenue is to fine-tune the experimental conditions to modulate the aggregation propensity. In this regard, NMR spectra of amyloidogenic proteins are often assigned under non-amyloidogenic conditions and the chemical shifts are then transferred to the more relevant (aggregation-prone) conditions via titration experiments [27-29]. The need to ensure that the starting material is purely monomeric and is not contaminated by even small amounts of aggregates or oligomers is of particular importance. For instance, when analyzing the conformational dynamics of the native state that may lead to the population of aggregation-prone species, in the absence of an appropriate kinetic model the presence of even small amounts of oligomers can make the data misleading. In such cases,



Fig. 1. Mechanisms of amyloid assembly. The schematic represents some of the possible routes of amyloid formation through primary (black arrows) or secondary pathways (green arrows). Assembly commences from a monomeric precursor that could be unfolded, partially folded or natively folded (left-hand side). During the nucleation phase, the dynamic equilibrium between these states is responsible for generating species with increased amyloid potential, which then self-assemble. Once the critical nucleus is generated rapid formation of b-rich amyloid fibrils starts (elongation phase). Secondary mechanisms, such as secondary nucleation on the surface of preformed fibrils (or aggregates), or fibril fragmentation, are also crucial determinants of the fate of assembly [4,5,10–13]. The fluorescence of thioflavin T (ThT-blue trace), a dye that binds to cross- β aggregates, is commonly used to follow the progress of the reaction. The circled numbers denote which part of the cascade each section of this review describes.



Fig. 2. Relaxation dispersion CPMG experiments. (A) In a slowly exchanging system between a major state A and a minor state B the corresponding NMR spectrum should show two peaks, assuming that state A and state B show a chemical shift difference, and that the rate of exchange $k_{ex} < \Delta \delta$ ($k_{ex} = k_{AB} + k_{BA}$). The peak intensities are then proportional to the populations of each state. However, in a system like the one shown, where the populations are highly skewed toward state A, the peak corresponding to state B is likely not to be detectable (no noise is shown in the spectra for clarity). (B) When a refocusing 180° pulse is applied the spin will be refocused after a period of time *t* (marked as 2), unless exchange is taking place during that time interval. If exchange is active, the refocusing is not complete, resulting in a loss of signal intensity due to line broadening (marked as 1). When a small number of refocusing pulses is applied (top), the chances for complete refocusing are lower since the time between the pulses is longer, allowing for more exchange events to happen. In a CPMG experiment the peak intensity is measured against the frequency of the refocusing pulses resulting in a typical profile shown in the bottom right-hand side. P_A and P_B denote the populations of states A and B respectively, which are proportional to the peak intensity.

complementary techniques such as analytical ultracentrifugation (AUC), dynamic light scattering (DLS), analytical size exclusion chromatography (SEC), fluorescence correlation spectroscopy (FCS), or short NMR TRACT or diffusion experiments [30] can be used to ensure the quality of the starting material.

2. Studying intermediate species that act as amyloidogenic precursors

The appearance of one or more partially structured states that are prone to oligomerization, or become partially structured upon oligomer formation is key to amyloid assembly, as depicted in Fig. 1. Such species can be formed from the natively folded protein, or from the unfolded (or intrinsically disordered) state. The following two sections describe NMR methods that can be used to investigate the very first steps of oligomerization and subsequent fibril assembly starting from the native state (Section 2) or from the unfolded state (Section 3).

In cases where the natively folded protein is not amyloidogenic but is in exchange with an amyloidogenic state, the population of these species is often highly skewed toward the native state. However, as long as different species are in exchange with each other on a suitable timescale, a number of NMR methods can be utilized to obtain structural, kinetic and thermodynamic information about the aggregation-prone species. These methods are highly sensitive to the properties of the 'hidden' (lowly populated) state, while detection takes place via the major, highly populated state.

2.1. Conformational dynamics investigated by relaxation-dispersion NMR

As depicted in Fig. 1, the initiating event of protein aggregation in many cases involves conformational exchange between the non-amyloidogenic native state (A) and a highly amyloidogenic intermediate state (B) (Fig. 2A). The populations of these species are often highly skewed toward the native state and thus interconversion takes place between a highly populated, ground state A, and a lowly populated, excited state B. If the exchange is slow on the NMR chemical shift timescale (where the rate of exchange $k_{ex} = k_{AB} + k_{BA}$, is slower than the chemical shift difference between the species $\Delta \delta$, $k_{\text{ex}} < \Delta \delta$) then two separate peaks should be visible in the NMR spectrum (assuming that the two spin states develop different chemical shifts) (Fig. 2A). However, if the populations of the inter-converting species are severely skewed toward one of them (the main species), then direct detection of the minor peak can be difficult or impossible [31,32]. In this instance, it is possible to detect the chemical shift of the minor state by observing changes in the intensity (or line shape) of the main peak. The basic idea behind relaxation dispersion experiments is to quantify the effective line width of peaks in the spectra as a function of the number of refocusing pulses in a Carr-Purcell-Meiboom-Gill (CPMG) pulse sequence [33,34]. Parameters that can be extracted from such an experiment include k_{ex} (from which the populations of the conformations in equilibrium can be calculated), but also the chemical shifts of the excited states. This then enables structural characterization of the lowly populated species which cannot be obtained in atomic resolution by any other technique [35-38].

For relaxation dispersion experiments it is crucial that the probes (spins) evolve at different frequencies (chemical shift) in states A and B (noted by ω_A and ω_B , respectively). If we consider a period of time, *t*, where the spin exists only in state A and a refocusing pulse is applied in the middle of this period then the frequency evolution of the spin due to its chemical shift over this time is zero and the chemical shift is 'refocused'. On the other hand, if during time *t* there is exchange (one or more events) between states A and B, the refocusing pulse is not able to fully refocus the chemical shift. In such a scenario, at the end of the pulse scheme the spin would have evolved at a frequency which

depends on the time it spends in each state and the number of exchange events. If the frequency of the refocusing pulses increases, then there is higher probability for complete refocusing after each pulse, resulting in sharper peaks (Fig. 2B). By measuring the intensity of the peaks as a function of the frequency of the refocusing pulses a relaxation dispersion profile is obtained (Fig. 2B).

The recent development of pulse schemes able to detect relaxation dispersion data for a variety of (backbone) nuclei (¹⁵N, ¹HN, 13 CO, 13 C α and 1 H α) [37] combined with methodologies that allow the accurate determination of the three dimensional (3D) structure based solely on chemical shifts [39], allows the characterization of the 'invisible' species in atomic detail [31]. Following such an approach (supplemented by relaxation dispersion-derived residual dipolar couplings (RDCs) and chemical shift anisotropies - see Section 3.3). Kay and co-workers were able to solve the backbone structure of an excited state of a mutant of the Fvn SH3 domain which aggregates to form amyloid-like fibrils [40,41]. The structure of the intermediate shows a native-like arrangement of the main-chain apart from the N- and C-terminal regions. These minor differences are enough to expose hydrophobic parts of the protein that presumably act as nucleation points for amyloid aggregation [40]. CPMG studies on the human immunoglobulin kIV light-chain variable domain (LEN) helped to reveal that motions on the slow timescale (ms), related to intermolecular interactions across the interface of the dimer, are correlated with amyloid formation [42]. At near physiological pH (6.0), conditions under with the protein is not amyloidogenic, minor CPMG profiles were observed (population of the excited state \sim 2–4%) suggesting that the protein is stable in its dimeric form. In contrast, when the pH was decreased to 2.0 (conditions under which the protein retains a largely native fold, but becomes amyloidogenic) significant CPMG profiles were obtained for the majority of the residues in the dimer interface. The population of the excited state is increased to \sim 10–15% and the protein readily forms amyloid fibrils. Although the motions in the fast (ps-ns) timescale remain unchanged between the two conditions (pH 2.0-6.0), the CPMG studies showed that increased dynamics on the slow timescale (ms) are important in destabilizing the native fold. leading to dimer dissociation and amyloid assembly [42]. Relaxation dispersion was also used to reveal information about the nature of the conformational changes in the amyloidogenic monomer of transthyretin after its dissociation from the native tetramer [43].

Extension of the relaxation dispersion methodology to include side-chain atoms may lead to a full atom 3D representation of invisible amyloidogenic intermediates, and may also be used to shed light on the specific side-chain motions that are responsible for 'native-like' aggregation [5,44]. However, CPMG experiments have certain limitations. Exchange has to take place on an appropriate timescale (although efforts have been made to extend the range of timescales amenable to CPMG [45]) and a very high signal-to-noise ratio is required. Therefore, CPMG experiments on large macromolecular systems or proteins that aggregate too rapidly at high concentrations are difficult, but not necessarily impossible [46].

2.2. Characterization of amyloidogenic intermediates using real-time NMR

The folding or unfolding transitions that lead to the population of an amyloidogenic precursor can be as slow as several minutes. In these cases the kinetics of the reaction can be studied in real-time in the NMR tube [47]. To enable these studies, the unfolded protein is usually separated from the refolding buffer by an air bubble and refolding is initiated by an injection system in the NMR probe. Historically, such experiments were recorded as one dimensional data [48,49]; however recent developments in pulse sequences and data processing have allowed two dimensional (2D) and three dimensional (3D) experiments to be acquired in seconds, or even relaxation measurements in real-time [50–52].

The main condition for monitoring reactions by real-time NMR experiments is that the transition must be slow, in the range of seconds to minutes. Beta-2 microglobulin (β_2 m), the light chain of the major histocompatibility complex I (MHC-I) [53,54], accumulates as amyloid fibrils in the joints of patients undergoing haemodialysis, giving rise to the disorder dialysis-related amyloidosis [55–59]. β_2 m folds slowly, which is attributed to isomerization of a single proline residue (Pro 32) [60–62]. As a consequence of the large energy barrier for proline-isomerization (70-80 kJ/mol) an intermediate containing a non-native trans isomer at position 32 accumulates (termed I_T) [62,63]. Under native-conditions, the concentration of I_T is directly related to the aggregation propensity of the protein (fibril elongation rate) [62] and its structural characterization was crucial for understanding the aggregation pathway of β_2 m [27,64]. Real-time NMR studies have shown that residues in the apical region of the protein, in close proximity to Pro32, undergo slow conformational dynamics, while the rest of the protein retains a native-like structure [65,66]. Comparison of the chemical shifts of the I_T state, collected in real-time (Fig. 3A), with those of the truncation mutant $\Delta N6$, in which the N-terminal 6 amino acids are deleted, confirmed the structural similarity of the two proteins [27]. Structural characterization of the aggregation-prone $\Delta N6$ by solution NMR [27] and X-ray crystallography [64] confirmed that the protein contains a trans peptidyl X-Pro 32 bond and has an otherwise native-like structure. However, Pro isomerization causes major rearrangements of the hydrophobic core, resulting in exposure of previously buried hydrophobic residues, a phenomenon which leads to an increased aggregation potential for this β_2 m variant (Fig. 3B) [67,68].

Real-time NMR studies on α -lactalbumin, another protein able to form amyloid-like fibrils (although not connected to disease), allowed the characterization of its folding pathway. α -lactal burnin is known to populate a molten globule state [70]. which is stabilized at low pH (2.5). Molten globules are characterized by the presence of native-like secondary structure, but lack persistent tertiary structure, making them vastly heterogeneous ensembles, difficult to characterize by conventional NMR techniques. Precise determination of the folding rates for the majority of residues of α -lactalbumin by 1D [49] and 2D real-time NMR showed similar time constants for all residues, revealing that the transition from the molten globule to the native state is two state [71]. Importantly, the flexibility and the precise structural characteristics of α -lactalbumin's molten globule states, generated under different conditions (low pH or removal of the Ca⁺⁺ ions bound to the protein) dictate the rate of fibril assembly, suggesting that the formation of a flexible/unfolded state is required for successful amyloid assembly [72].

2.3. H/D exchange studies on folded amyloid precursors

H/D exchange experiments provide a powerful tool for the characterization of local and/or global structural fluctuations of native proteins (native state H/D exchange) that take place on a timescale of milliseconds or slower [73–75]. These motions may expose sequences with increased amyloid potential and act as triggers of aggregation (Fig. 1). The combination of H/D exchange with the residue-specific information available using NMR spectroscopy thus offers the possibility of a detailed characterization of these aggregation-prone species.

In a H/D exchange experiment, numerous parameters affect the rate of exchange such as temperature, pH and the amino acid sequence [76]. Hydrogen atoms in native proteins are protected from exchange with deuterons by the formation of hydrogen bonds



Fig. 3. Real-time characterization of protein folding. (A) Regions of ${}^{1}H^{-15}N$ SOFAST-HMQC spectra recorded during the folding of human $\beta_{2}m$ (in 10 mM sodium phosphate buffer pH 6.2, 25 °C, 0.8 M final urea concentration). Resonances for 93V, 69E and 96E are shown in a series of spectra recorded at 3, 4, 10, 20 min after folding was initiated by 10-fold dilution of a protein solution containing 8 M urea (acquisition time 45 s). Black – native $\beta_{2}m$, red – real time spectra of the I_{T} state that is populated en route to the native state. (B) Ribbon representation of human $\beta_{2}m$ colored according to the chemical shift differences between the native and I_{T} states. Residues that locate near P32 (that undergoes Pro isomerization) are broadened beyond detection in the spectrum of I_{T} (red), suggesting that they undergo significant conformational changes during folding. To illustrate the re-arrangements in the apical part of the molecule, F30 and F62 are shown as sticks on human $\beta_{2}m$ (red) and $\Delta N6$ (gray) in the inset [69].

and/or by burial from solvent, implying that a global or local 'opening' event has to occur prior to H/D exchange. Scheme (1) summarizes the H/D exchange reaction in a native protein [74,76]:

$$NH_{closed} \xrightarrow{k_{op}} NH_{open} \xrightarrow{k_{ch}} ND$$
 (Scheme 1)

where k_{op} is the rate of protein opening (unfolding), k_{cl} is the rate of protein refolding and k_{ch} is the intrinsic rate of H/D exchange from the open state. As is evident from Scheme (1) the observed rate of exchange (k_{obs}) upon exposure of a protonated protein in a deuterated buffer is given by:

$$k_{\rm obs} = \frac{k_{\rm op}k_{\rm ch}}{k_{\rm op} + k_{\rm cl} + k_{\rm ch}} \tag{1}$$

Assuming that for a natively folded protein the rate of opening is much slower than the rate of closing, Eq. (1) can be simplified as follows:

$$k_{\rm obs} = \frac{k_{\rm op}k_{\rm ch}}{k_{\rm cl} + k_{\rm ch}} \tag{2}$$

Based on Eq. (2) different exchange mechanisms emerge depending on the relationship between k_{cl} and k_{ch} . When the rate of closing is much faster than the intrinsic rate of H/D exchange ($k_{cl} \gg k_{ch}$) Eq. (2) translates into:

$$k_{\rm obs} = \frac{k_{\rm op}k_{\rm ch}}{k_{\rm cl}} = K_{\rm op}k_{\rm ch} \tag{3}$$

This mechanism of H/D exchange is known as EX2 exchange and usually is the outcome of small, non-cooperative fluctuations in native fold. Importantly the determination of the equilibrium position K_{op} allows the calculation of the free energy of unfolding. The opposite scenario where $k_{cl} \ll k_{ch}$ allows the removal of k_{cl} from Eq. (4), resulting in EX1 exchange:

$$k_{\rm obs} = k_{\rm op} \tag{4}$$

Thus, EX1 exchange reports on the kinetics of the unfolding process, which is usually the outcome of large scale motions, or results from the protein visiting the globally unfolded state. The protection factor (PF) is a metric of how much more slowly the exchange is taking place in the folded protein structure in comparison with the same sequence in an unfolded polypeptide chain and is defined as:

$$PF = k_{ch}/k_{obs}$$
(5)

When analyzed by NMR, the folded protonated protein is introduced into a deuterated buffer and the peak intensities (normally of amide protons) are measured over time. Peak intensities are traditionally followed by one dimensional or 2D NMR methods [77,78]. More recently, fast-pulsing sequences [51] or non-uniformly sampled pulse schemes [52] have been used to improve temporal resolution, such that rapidly exchanging amides (minutes to hours) can also be monitored. Fitting of the intensity profiles to a single exponential function yields k_{obs} , while k_{ch} can be approximated based on the primary sequence and the solution conditions using software tools such as CIntX (http://sblab.sastra.edu/cintx.html) [79]. Another approach involves the transfer of the magnetization from the protein under investigation to water molecules through H/D exchange. This methodology is particularly suited to very rapidly exchanging systems (sub-second), since pulse schemes such as CLEANEX-PM [80,81] can achieve the magnetization transfer with millisecond time resolution.

Owing to the power of the method and its relative ease of use, H/D exchange has been used to study protein stability and protein folding of many proteins in both kinetic and equilibrium experiments [73,76]. Other applications include the investigation of protein dynamics [76], the identification of binding interfaces [82], and the characterization of allosteric effects upon binding [83,84]. In terms of protein misfolding, numerous studies have been performed on amyloid precursors including Aβ40/42 [85,86], α-synuclein [87], β_2 m [84,88,89], lysozyme [90,91], prion protein (PrP) [92] and transthyretin [93]. For an extended review of H/D exchange methods to study amyloid aggregation see Ref. [94]. A general correlation between a loss in H/D exchange protection and increased amyloidogenicity is suggestive of partial unfolding of the natively folded protein as the initial step that triggers aggregation. Especially in the case of β_2 m, transient intermolecular interactions are responsible for destabilizing the native fold (as monitored by H/D exchange), which catalytically converts non-aggregation-prone molecules to amyloid precursors by biomolecular interactions [84]. Importantly, the recent development of chemical exchange saturation transfer (CEST) pulse sequences allows the determination of H/D exchange rates even in lowly populated excited protein states [95]. Apart from studying (near) natively folded monomeric precursors, H/D exchange has also been used extensively to study oligomeric species and fibrils themselves. In this case the kinetic models and the experimental setup differ and will be discussed later (Section 4.3).

3. The role of disorder in amyloid aggregation

Proteins exhibit motions that span a wide range of timescales (from ns to mins or slower) [96,97]. These motions have been connected with various aspects of protein function, such as enzymatic catalysis [98], regulation of protein synthesis [99] and many others [100]. Proteins that possess at least one region that does not have a fixed secondary or tertiary structure are known as intrinsically disordered proteins (IDPs) and lie at the extreme of the spectrum for molecular motions, since their disordered regions can sample a very large range of different conformations [101,102]. IDPs are often found in systems where transient interactions are desirable, or systems where the interactions have to be switched on or off quickly, such as cell signaling [103,104]. IDPs also have various other advantages in comparison with their folded counterparts. Upon binding they can adopt conformations that are sterically hindered for structured proteins, such as wrapping around their protein partner in order to maximize the buried surface area [105,106]. From an evolutionary point of view, disordered regions are less likely than folded proteins to lose binding capacity or functionality upon mutation [105,107] and can act as mediators of shuffling protein domains [108]. As an outcome. IDPs can access functional mechanisms that are not available to their folded counterparts and, therefore, are advantageous for evolution. Based on all these characteristics, IDPs can promote splicing, expose or hide binding interfaces, or promote protein modularity, explaining their prevalence in the eukaryotic kingdom (more than 25% of the proteome) [109].

In the early days of studies of amyloid formation using biophysical approaches, aggregation was commonly carried out under non-native conditions, such as low pH or in the presence of co-solvents such as sodium dodecyl-sulfate (SDS) or tri-fluoroethanol (TFE) [110–112]. These studies led to the discovery that all (or most) proteins can form amyloid-like fibrils from their unfolded/disordered state under the appropriate conditions [3]. Proteins that are natively disordered are associated with numerous amyloid diseases, including $A\beta$ (Alzheimer's disease), α -synuclein (Parkinson's), tau protein (dementia) and amylin (type II diabetes) [113]. Due to their heterogeneous nature and the fact that they sample such an enormous conformational space, NMR has a significant advantage for the characterization of disordered proteins, as each NMR observable represents the (per residue) ensemble average over all available conformations. On the other hand, the numerous degrees of freedom of the system require the measurement of a large number of uncorrelated complementary restraints in order to reach convergence [114]. Fortunately, NMR chemical shifts, paramagnetic relaxation enhancement (PRE) and residual dipolar couplings (RDCs) are all independent measurements that can be used to describe the complex structural behavior of IDPs. The next sections give a brief overview of how these NMR methods can be used to investigate these structurally dynamic proteins.

3.1. Chemical shifts probe transient secondary structure propensity

The chemical shift reports accurately on the nature of the electronic micro-environment of each nuclear spin, and thus chemical shifts are inherently sensitive to changes in the primary sequence, secondary/tertiary structure, ligand binding, protein-protein interactions and many other biologically relevant phenomena. Early on, it was realized that the chemical shift can be used to infer structural information about proteins [115] by comparing the deviation of experimentally measured ¹H and ¹³C chemical shifts with respect to their random coil values (secondary chemical shift - δ_{SCS}). The δ_{SCS} is a metric often used to identify the secondary structure content of a protein as it is easy to determine and reliable. However, δ_{SCS} depends on the definition of the random coil chemical shift values, a quantity that remains to be precisely defined and depends on the model used for a random structure, the amino acid sequence, the temperature and the pH [116–118]. This sensitivity to the precise reference conditions is particularly important when interpreting chemical shifts of disordered proteins.

Since the chemical shift is so sensitive to a variety of factors it can be difficult to deconvolute the true contribution of structure on the observed shift, especially for proteins that do not have a persistent fold such as IDPs. However, with the increasing number of available native protein structures whose chemical shifts are known experimentally, it has become possible to develop machine-learning approaches to predict the chemical shift directly from the three-dimensional structure of a protein. These approaches include SHIFTX² [119], SPARTA+ [120] and CamShift [121], all of which rely on a static representation of the protein. Recently, a method that takes protein dynamics into account by predicting (the potentially already ensemble-averaged) chemical shifts during long molecular dynamics (MD) trajectories has been developed [122–124]. However, it has to be noted that chemical shifts depend highly on the experimental conditions, making their prediction and detailed interpretation difficult in the absence of supplementary evidence, especially for IDPs and dynamic protein ensembles. Chemical shifts have been used as powerful complementary restraints alongside other NMR observables that, combined together, can provide an accurate description of the conformational distribution of amyloidogenic IDPs (see Section 3.4).

3.2. Paramagnetic relaxation enhancement (PRE)

In the presence of a paramagnet such as 1-oxyl-2,2,5,5-tetram ethyl- Δ 3-pyrroline-3-methyl) methanethiosulfonate (MTSL Fig. 4A), nuclei show a different magnetic response owing to various molecular phenomena such as dipole-dipole interactions, Curie-spin relaxation and pseudocontact shifts (reviewed in [125]). The paramagnetic effect can be detected by an increased relaxation rate of nearby nuclei (PRE), pseudocontact shifts (PCS) and residual dipolar couplings (RDC) (Fig. 4). The PRE can be measured in any paramagnetic system, while PCS and RDC measurements require an anisotropic g-tensor, meaning that it is necessary to assign the paramagnetic and diamagnetic states separately, a task that can be challenging [126,127]. PRE arises from the magnetic dipolar interactions (in most cases) between a nucleus and an unpaired electron of the paramagnetic probe. While both the nOe and PRE show the same r^{-6} distance dependence (between the neighboring nuclei (nOe), or the nucleus with the paramagnetic probe (PRE)), owing to the large magnetic moment of the electron the PRE phenomenon extends to much larger distances (up to 35 Å), depending on the paramagnetic group used. The effect of the dipole-dipole interaction is an increase in the relaxation rates of the nuclear magnetization, which can be measured using standard relaxation pulse schemes



Fig. 4. Principles of paramagnetic relaxation enhancement. (A) Types of PRE experiments (intramolecular PRE-left, intermolecular PRE-right). (B) Overlay of a region of a ¹H-¹⁵N HSQC spectrum of ¹⁵N-labeled murine $\beta_2 m$ (m $\beta_2 m$) in presence of ¹⁴N-labeled $\Delta N6$ containing oxidized (paramagnetic sample – black) and reduced MTSL (diamagnetic sample – red). Missing peaks from the paramagnetic spectrum belong to amides that locate closely to the position of the spin label. (C) ¹H- R_2 relaxation rates (paramagnetic-black, diamagnetic-red) for the E36 amide which locates close to the interface of the two proteins. Solid lines represent fits to single exponentials [69,84].

(Fig. 4B and C). Typically, relaxation rates (normally ¹H) are measured in the presence of a spin label and subtracted from their corresponding values when the spin label is inactive (reduced) resulting in the measurement of the PRE Γ_2 rate [123]:

$$\Gamma_2 = R_{2,\text{para}} - R_{2,\text{dia}} \tag{6}$$

$$r = \left\{ \frac{K}{\Gamma_2} \left(4\tau_c + \frac{3\tau_c}{1 + \omega^2 \tau_c^2} \right) \right\}^{1/6}$$
(7)

where $R_{2,\text{para}}$, $R_{2,\text{dia}}$ are the relaxation rates in the paramagnetic and diamagnetic sample respectively, *r* is the distance between the spin label and the nucleus, τ_c is the correlation time of the electron-nucleus interaction (assumed to be the global correlation time of the protein for nitroxide spin labels), ω is the Larmor frequency of the spin (proton) and *K* is $1.23 \times 10^{-32} \text{ cm}^6 \text{ s}^{-2}$.

The subtraction in Eq. (6) cancels out all relaxation processes that are common in the reduced and oxidized states, and leaves the paramagnetically-induced relaxation as the only difference [128]. Alternatively, the same measurement can be performed by comparing the peak intensities in a simple HSQC-type of experiment in a sample containing the oxidized (I_{ox}) versus the reduced (I_{red}) spin label (Fig. 4B). The I_{ox}/I_{red} ratio can then be converted to PRE rates or directly into distances. Since the direct measurement of the PRE rates requires very high signal-to-noise ratios to allow robust fitting and is more time-consuming, determination of the $I_{\rm ox}/I_{\rm red}$ ratio is often the method of choice, especially for proteins of higher MW (>40 kDa) [128–133]. However, this can result in biased PRE rates because of other NMR phenomena contributing to the observed peak intensity in the presence of the paramagnet (e.g. differential increase in the T_1 relaxation between the oxidized and reduced samples), which are not taken into account. Spin labels are usually introduced via a single solvent-accessible cysteine residue (or a pair of cysteines) and are typically functionalized by nitroxide moieties and/or chelated metal ions (reviewed in [134]). The choice of the appropriate spin label is based on the distance range of the expected interaction and the precision required. Most of the spin labels are at least partially hydrophobic and therefore can cause artifacts especially when dealing with exposed hydrophobic surfaces of amyloidogenic proteins. Thus, when applied to aggregating proteins, PRE experiments need to be carefully designed to ensure that the paramagnet introduced does not affect protein structure, dynamics or aggregation.

When interpreting the PRE effect as a distance, special care has to be taken to account for the increased flexibility of the MTSL side chain. The problem can be taken care of by including an order parameter for the internal motions of the side chain [135], and/or averaging between multiple conformers of MTSL in ensemble molecular dynamics simulations [125,136]. Alternatively, Clore and co-workers presented a sophisticated theoretical framework to allow direct back-calculation of Γ_2 rates from 3D structure, which is advantageous since it provides a tool for the full description of the PRE phenomenon in 3D space [125,135].

PRE experiments have been used to assist the structure calculation of large proteins [130], to characterize the domain organization of multi-domain systems [129,134,137,138], to study protein–DNA interactions [139–141], and to interrogate intrinsically disordered proteins [142]. However, one of the most powerful features of this technique is its ability to provide unique information about exchanging systems. In this case, the use of PRE-derived information depends highly on the timescale of exchange [143]. If the motions lie in the slow exchange regime, the PRE data can offer a significant improvement in the quality of NMR structures in comparison with the classical nOe type of calculation. On the other hand, if the timescale of exchange is fast, application of the PRE methodology allows the characterization of dynamic processes and the identification and structural elucidation of lowly populated intermediate species. More specifically, based on McConnell's equations for a two state system, the apparent PRE rate (Γ_2) is highly dependent on the rate of the exchange event $(k_{ex} = k_{AB} + k_{BA})$ between states A and B (Fig. 5A). If the exchange takes place in the slow PRE regime ($k_{ex} \ll \Gamma_{2,B} - \Gamma_{2,A}$), then the presence of the minor species B has no effect on the measured PRE Γ_2^{app} rate, which in this case represents only the major species A. However, for larger k_{ex} , the Γ_2^{app} rate is highly influenced by the minor state B (Fig. 5A and B). Thus, when $k_{ex} \gg \Gamma_{2,B} - \Gamma_{2,A}$ (fast exchange regime), the apparent Γ_2 rate is the weighted populated average of the Γ_2 rates of the two species [125]. As IDPs are expected to interconvert rapidly between numerous conformations in a large ensemble of species, visualization of the individual ensemble members (which can be less than 1% populated) is greatly facilitated by the PRE methodology [114].

IDPs, such as α -synuclein or A β 40/42, are expected to show some long-range interactions, much like the well-known long-range interactions of unfolded globular proteins (e.g. under



Fig. 5. The effect of exchange rates in PRE measurements. (A) One spin-labeled (black open circle) protein that is in exchange between a major (A) and minor (B) state is shown. The extended conformation of the major state gives rise to a small Γ_2 rate (2 s⁻¹) for the spin label site shown, while the more compact structure of state B shows a Γ_2 value of 2 * 10³ s⁻¹. (B) Line shape simulations of the resonance of state A as the exchange rate k_{ex} ($k_{ex} = k_{AB} + k_{BA}$) is increased from 4 to 4000 s⁻¹. The simulations were performed by solving the McConnell equations for a two-state system [144], using a chemical shift of 100 Hz for both states (assuming no pseudo-contact shifts), a diamagnetic T_2 relaxation rate of 30 s⁻¹ and a population of 99% and 1% for states A and B, respectively. The curve of the right-hand panel is magnified by a factor of two for clarity. When the exchange rate is in the fast exchange regime the line-shape is dominated by the Γ_2 rate of the minor state although its population is as low as 1%.

denaturing conditions [145]). The presence or absence of these kinds of interactions was hypothesized to be important in the aggregation properties of these amyloid-disease related proteins. PRE studies on spin-labeled α -synuclein showed interactions between the charged C-terminal residues 120-140 and residues 30-100 in the so-called NAC region, creating a compact form of the protein [146]. This occluded conformation, as observed by molecular dynamics simulations incorporating PRE-derived restraints, was proposed to inhibit the aggregation of α -synuclein by shielding the aggregation-prone NAC region of the protein. Importantly these long-range interactions are preserved in the physiologically relevant, N-terminally acetylated version of α -synuclein [147]. Inter-chain interactions between different α -synuclein monomers have also been monitored by paramagnetic NMR. PREs were observed in the C-terminal region of the protein when the spin label was attached in the N-terminal region and vice versa, showing that a head-to-tail interaction is taking place

between α -synuclein monomers [148]. However, the relatively weak PRE effect observed at neutral pH suggests that α -synuclein prefers to interact with solvent molecules rather than itself.

3.3. Residual dipolar couplings reveal residual structure in unfolded proteins

The through-space dipolar interaction (D_{ij}) between two magnetically active nuclei (i, j) is given by:

$$D_{ij} = -\frac{\gamma_i \gamma_j h \mu_0}{4\pi^2 r^3} \left\langle \frac{3\cos^2 \theta - 1}{2} \right\rangle,\tag{8}$$

where γ_i , γ_j are the gyromagnetic ratios of each nucleus, h, Plank's constant, μ_0 the permeability of a vacuum, r the distance between nuclei i and j, and θ the orientation of the nuclear vector with respect to the external magnetic field. Proteins in isotropic solutions tumble freely and thus θ can take all possible values, causing D_{ij} in



Fig. 6. RDCs in biomolecular NMR. (A) Introduction of a protein (green) into an alignment medium (represented by the gray cylinders) partially restricts the protein's rotational motion. (B) RDCs depend on the time-averaged angle (θ) between the internuclear vector (here shown as the amide bond) and the external magnetic field B_0 . Transformation from a vector orientation relative to the field to an orientation relative to the molecular frame gives the preferential orientational averaging of the molecule expressed as a traceless second rank alignment tensor (Axx, Ayy, Azz). The alignment tensor describes the magnitude and direction of alignment for three orthogonal orientations. (C) An undecoupled HSQC spectrum in isotropic solutions results in the measurement of the *J* coupling (red peaks). If the molecule is aligned the same experiment measures the sum of the *J* and dipolar coupling (purple peaks). Subtraction of the two gives the value of the RDC.

Eq. (8) to average to zero. Introduction of a protein into a medium which can be aligned with respect to the magnetic field, such as a liquid crystalline phase, causes limited restriction of the molecule's rotation such that the dipolar coupling becomes non-zero (Fig. 6A). Measurement of the residual dipolar coupling (RDC) is extremely powerful as it contains valuable long range angular information for the internuclear vectors and can be used to complement short or long range distances measured by nOe or PRE experiments, respectively. Therefore, a variety of alignment media such as filamentous phages, stretched gels, bicelles or glycol mixtures have been developed in order to align folded proteins [149,150]. Structurally, RDCs can be analyzed as internuclear vectors oriented in a common alignment tensor that is fixed in terms of the molecular frame (Fig. 6B). For a fixed length bond between two nuclei in a rigid fully anisotropically aligned object in solution, the RDC can be calculated from the probability of alignment along three orthogonal directions in the molecules frame of reference. This information can be written as an alignment tensor. Five parameters are required to describe an RDC from a known molecular structure: three angles to align the molecule, plus the magnitude and rhombicity of alignment. For a system undergoing conformational exchange the overall time averaged RDC value can be computed from a simple weighted average of the RDC for each conformer. The important insight that allowed this formalism to be used for the ensemble modeling of IDPS is that for steric alignment it has proved sufficient to predict the alignment tensor for each of the conformations present in an ensemble of limited size as a static snapshot without reference to time variations in order to generate an empirically convincing model. Alternatively, new computational methods that do not require the calculation of an alignment tensor combined with molecular dynamics simulations may be useful in capturing the time-averaged nature of RDCs, especially for conformationally heterogeneous proteins such as IDPs [151,152]. RDCs are typically measured using inphase-antiphase sequences (IPAP) which can separate the upfield and downfield components of the *I*-coupled doublet into separate spectra (Fig. 6C) [153].

Given the extreme flexibility of IDPs, RDCs for such proteins might be expected to average close to zero even under conditions of weak alignment due to conformational averaging. However, non-zero RDCs have been measured for denatured proteins [154] showing that RDCs can be used to probe structural propensities in the conformational ensemble. H^N-N-RDCs for IDPs show a negative sign and a bell-shape dependence on the polypeptide sequence, reflecting the propensity of the polypeptide chain to align parallel with the magnetic field [145,154,155]. However, it has been observed that RDCs in disordered proteins are very sensitive to local structure (for instance, formation of transient helices changes the orientation of the amide vector in relation to B_0). Thus, the sign of the coupling and the magnitude of the observed RDC are highly correlated with the size of the side chain [156-158]. Therefore, RDCs contain valuable information about the conformational properties of a disordered polypeptide chain that reports both on the local and long-range structure.

As denoted by the angle brackets in Eq. (8), the measured RDCs report on the ensemble average over all possible conformations in solution. As an outcome, averaging of the alignment tensors of each member of an ensemble should reproduce the experimentally measured RDCs, providing that the ensemble is of adequate size and is correctly parametrized (see Section 3.4). RDC studies on α -synuclein showed that the experimentally measured RDCs could not be explained unless contacts between the N- and C-terminal regions are included in the ensemble [159]. This finding confirmed the occluded conformation of the protein as observed by PRE studies [146] and further highlights the importance of the charged residues in stabilizing these regions. Importantly, increasing the ionic strength, deletion of the C-terminal region, and/or mutation in the

N-terminal region all cause increased fibrillation rates, consistent with the importance of intra-molecular interactions between the C-terminal and NAC regions, and inter-molecular interactions between the N- and C-terminal regions, during the early stages of aggregation.

Investigation of the conformational properties of the protein tau also showed large discrepancies between the measured RDCs and those predicted from the statistical coil model, in areas implicated in aggregation [160]. Accelerated molecular dynamics simulations (AMD) [161], in which the energy landscape is biased in order to favor transitions between low energy states (thus providing access to longer timescales and better conformational sampling), were used in the same study to investigate the structural plasticity of tau. This analysis revealed a high propensity for a β-turn conformation in regions of the polypeptide chain that could not be captured by the statistical coil model. Importantly, incorporation of the dihedral angle sampling derived from AMD to the coil model resulted in much better prediction of the experimentally measured RDCs [162]. These highly localized and sequence-dependent structural propensities were hypothesized to act as an inhibitor of β -rich amyloid aggregate formation [162].

3.4. Ensemble calculations – the importance of incorporating a plethora of data

Due to the large number of degrees of freedom of IDPs, a large amount of experimental data is required to describe their conformational ensemble adequately. To resolve this issue, the available NMR restraints (chemical shifts, PREs, RDCs) can be analyzed together to generate a consistent ensemble (Fig. 7). Chemical shifts and RDCs mainly depend on local structural order, while PREs report on the long range interactions of the polypeptide chain. Combined together, these data provide a more complete representation of the conformational ensemble. In theory, chemical shift anisotropies (CSA) could also be used to aid this process; however they are difficult to measure. Originally, statistical coil models were used to generate appropriate ensembles for IDPs [114]: however these fail to reproduce large experimental datasets, since denatured proteins tend to sample extended conformations significantly [162,163]. Normally, tens of thousands of conformations need to be averaged in order to reach convergence [164], making the analysis computationally intense and time-consuming. Recent developments from Blackledge [136,164] and Forman-Kay [165] and their colleagues have allowed the generation of ensembles representative of the conformational sampling of IDPs in solution at the amino-acid level, by using statistical coil models in combination with sophisticated selection methods that allow the derivation of appropriate sub-ensembles from broader distributions [164,166] (Fig. 7). Alternatively, experimental restraints can be incorporated in restrained or replica exchange simulations [163].

Such an approach has been used in the case of α -synuclein by combining PRE and RDC data to describe the long range intramolecular interactions between the C-terminus and the NAC region in atomic details (previously observed by PRE alone) [167]. Release of these autoinhibitory interactions was hypothesized to prime the protein for aggregation [167]. MD simulations had suggested that α -synuclein adopts an ensemble containing a number of oligomeric species, some of which may be α -helical or β -sheet rich [168]. Analysis of a large experimental dataset by Blackledge and co-workers [142], including chemical shifts for five different nuclei, one set of RDCs, four sets of PRE restraints, supplemented by small angle X-ray scattering (SAXS) data, provided a better representation of the conformational behavior of the protein in solution. After careful cross-validation of the data, the unfolded nature of the protein was confirmed. In the same study, the



Fig. 7. NMR strategy to study IDPs. An initial pool of conformations is generated by statistical coil approaches. This ensemble is then refined by rounds of selections against experimental restraints such as chemical shifts, PREs and RDCs. The backbone atoms of an IDP are shown in a ball and stick representation. The red spheres denote the positions where MTSL is attached, used to derive intramolecular PRE restraints (top panel). Some of the experimental restraints are usually not included in the selection, but are instead used for cross-validation of the resulting ensembles after each round of selection.

conformational ensemble of the 441-residue full-length human protein tau was also investigated utilizing 11 sets of PREs, 5 sets of chemical shifts, 1 set of RDCs and SAXS data [142]. In both cases an elevated population for polyproline-II (β P) conformations was directly observed, especially in regions of increased amyloidogenicity, suggesting that this conformational behavior is a precursor of amyloid fibril formation. Furthermore, by combining a variety of experimental restraints, a better agreement between the experimental data and the results of MD simulation was achieved, in comparison to the statistical coil ensemble alone [142], showing the validity and the predictive power of these approaches.

4. Investigating interactions in higher-order species on pathway to amyloid fibrils using NMR

In the pursuit of linking the different properties of initially folded proteins to amyloidogenicity, many studies have focused on analyzing the structural properties of monomeric amyloid precursors. Unfolding energies, hydrophobicity, propensity to form inter/intra-molecular contacts and protein dynamics have all been linked to increased amyloid propensity [27,43,169]. The wealth of data available has allowed the generation of algorithms capable of predicting amyloidogenicity, based either on the physicochemical properties of the amino acid sequence involved, or the structure of the protein, and how these are modulated by the dynamics of the native state (reviewed in [170]). On the other hand, other research efforts have focused on elucidating the structure of amyloid fibrils in order to establish their role in cytotoxicity and/or protein function. The first atomic details of the structures of small amyloid-forming peptide segments were solved by X-ray fiber diffraction [171,172] and X-ray crystallography [19,24]. Structural models based on solid state NMR have also been proposed for amyloid protofilaments or fibrils, including $A\beta_{40}$ [23,173,174], and the C-terminal domain of HET-s [21]. Very recently, the structure of an amyloid fibril involving 2, 4, or 6 protofilaments of a peptide of transthyretin was determined using a combination of solid-state NMR and EM [26].

By contrast with the highly-ordered stable amyloid fold, structural characterization of the oligomeric species formed during fibril formation has proved difficult because of the transient nature and heterogeneity of amyloid intermediates. These species are often termed 'amyloid oligomers' and their short lifetimes, polymorphic nature, dynamic properties and variety of mechanisms of formation make them inaccessible to most current structural tools. In addition, the distinction between off- and on-pathway oligomers, i.e. oligomers that directly precede amyloid fibrils, or represent meta-stable species on an alternative assembly pathway, remains one of the most challenging aspects of their characterization. Amyloid oligomers show increased ability to penetrate lipid bilayers, to interact with external cellular components, and to cause cytotoxicity, in comparison with monomeric or fibrillar forms of the same protein precursors, highlighting their importance in understanding the aggregation pathway and the origins of disease [175–177].

Recently, a distinction between on- and off-pathway assemblies in the early stages of amyloid formation was made possible using fluorescence techniques. Cremades et al. [178] and Campioni et al. [179] in two independent studies showed that human α -synuclein and bacterial HypF aggregate through the formation of oligomeric species of different size and structure and, as a result, have different cytotoxicity. In the former case, single molecule fluorescence techniques and the analysis of individual species in solution allowed direct observation of the inter-conversion between the different oligomeric forms. These findings highlighted the dynamic nature of protein-protein interactions in the early stages of amyloid formation, giving rise to species of the same overall shape, but different in structural details, sufficient to make them toxic (or not toxic) to the cell. Even though powerful and illuminating in that they provide insights into the overall architecture, size and shape of the oligomeric assemblies, these studies fail to reveal the structure of these key amyloid intermediates in atomistic detail. Eisenberg and co-workers reported the first high resolution crystal structure of a trapped, supposedly toxic, oligomer that appears to be on-pathway to fibrils derived from a peptide segment of $\alpha\beta$ -crystallin [180]. Its structure revealed a novel barrel-like cylindrical fold, termed cylindrin, that is only marginally destabilised in comparison to the classic steric zipper form that amyloid peptides often adopt in crystals [24]. Interestingly, the cylindrin architecture appears to be more generic and not only related to $\alpha\beta$ -crystallin [181].

Structurally describing the aggregates of different sizes, ranging from dimers to high molecular weight oligomers, represents a challenging task for solution NMR spectroscopy due to their size (often >1 MDa) and their heterogeneous and dynamic nature. However, significant progress has been made toward the characterization of these species, either by studying the protein–protein interactions within oligomeric species directly, or by inferring information about the interacting species by exploiting the exchange of monomeric species with the oligomers/fibrils. These new insights and the NMR approaches used are highlighted in the sections below.

4.1. Direct detection of oligomeric intermediates

Owing to its high sensitivity and increased chemical shift range, ¹⁹F NMR can be used to probe oligomer/fibril assembly directly. The position and intensity of the ¹⁹F signal of fluorinated proteins can provide information about the formation of oligomers in real-time during fibril assembly. Following the ¹⁹F signal during the aggregation of human islet associated polypeptide (IAPP) suggested that fibril assembly is a two-state process (monomer to fibrils), without the accumulation of detectable intermediate species [182]. On the other hand, at least six oligomeric species, each with a distinct NMR signature, were observed for Aβ40 [183], and the formation of an octamer was associated with enhanced amyloidogenicity of prion protein [184]. Other studies have inferred information about the kinetics of protein oligomerization from the loss of the NMR signal of the monomeric precursor during aggregation [185] while, more recently, fibril dynamics were studied directly by investigating the release of soluble oligomers and monomers using real-time NMR [186].

A new NMR technique that lies on the edge of solution and solid-state NMR approaches is the so-called SedNMR [187]. Highly concentrated solutions of high molecular weight proteins or assemblies are centrifuged either *in situ* (using the centrifugal force of the magic-angle (MAS) rotor) or *ex situ* by placing the

MAS rotor in an ultracentrifuge prior to NMR analysis [187,188]. The precipitate formed on the walls of the rotor gives excellent NMR spectra in comparison with lyophilized samples or microcrystalline phases, and remains highly hydrated compared with other SS-NMR sample preparation protocols [188,189]. Therefore, SedNMR is promising for the structural characterization of soluble amyloid oligomers that are of sufficient mass to be spun out of solution, or even partially insoluble species on-pathway to fibrils. As sedimented samples contain both a solution and a 'solid' phase, different spectroscopic techniques can be applied to detect signals arising from each phase of the sample. Bertini et al. have applied polarization insensitive nuclei transfer (INEPT), and cross-polarization techniques, to study the solution (containing monomer and or small AB40 oligomers) and 'solid' (containing larger aggregates) phase of A β 40 aggregates in real-time [190]. This method allowed a quantitative kinetic analysis of fibril assembly to be made and, due to the high sensitivity of the technique. assignment of the resonances of the aggregates was also possible [190].

Although SedNMR represents a promising approach for studying amyloid oligomers, the heterogeneity of these species may reduce the SS-NMR spectral quality, rendering them intractable to NMR analysis. In these cases, indirect detection of large assemblies is possible by investigating their influence on their monomeric counterparts, as described below.

4.2. Dark exchange saturation transfer (DEST)

The powerful CPMG experiments presented in Section 2.1 rely on the fact that two protein states in exchange have different chemical shifts. Based on that observation, crucial information about the minor state can be obtained by studying the modulation its presence causes on the major, visible state (as long the exchange is taking place at \sim 10 ms-1 s). The known limitations of solution NMR spectroscopy in resolving complexes of large macromolecular size (<1 MDa. unless the assembly contains dynamic regions) renders direct observation of a wealth of macromolecular assemblies such as membrane proteins, large molecular machines, protein aggregates and surface bound molecules difficult using solution NMR methods unless ¹³C-methyl labeling, deuteration and TROSY methods are employed [191]. The decreased molecular tumbling rate of a protein when bound to a high MW complex leads to a large increase in the relaxation rate of the magnetization in the transverse plane, making these species invisible by classic NMR methods. However, this increase in the T_2 rates of the bound molecule is the basis of the DEST experiment, recently proposed by Clore and co-workers [192]. The same basic concept has been used in the past to study protein-ligand interactions [193]. To understand these experiments, imagine a system where an NMR-visible state (e.g. a monomer) is in exchange with a species of high molecular weight (eg. an oligomer or an ensemble of oligomers, Fig. 8A), where the two states show the same chemical shift (for instance if the monomer conformation is unchanged in the oligomeric species). In such a case, the monomeric species is expected to give rise to narrow lines in its NMR spectrum (Fig. 8A and B). In contrast, the oligomers formed give rise to very broad lines and thus are NMR invisible. In a DEST experiment a weak saturating field B_1 is applied far off-resonance from the sharp monomeric signal (Fig. 8C), leaving the resonances that are not in exchange with the species of interest unaffected. However, the extreme line-width of the bound resonances cause the saturation to be transferred through chemical exchange from the high molecular weight species to the NMR-visible state, resulting in an attenuation of the sharp signals that arise from the monomer (even when B_1 is applied far off-resonance) (Fig. 8C). The observed attenuation depends on the R_2 of the bound-invisible state and thus can



Fig. 8. Principles of DEST experiments. (A) In a system where there is exchange between a monomeric (state A) and an oligomeric state (state B), the resulting NMR spectrum ($^{1}H^{-15}N$ HSQC) shows sharp lines corresponding to the monomeric protein, while the high molecular weight species are NMR-invisible. (B) For instance, the Y26 resonance in the spectrum of human $\beta_{2}m$ shows a broad line arising from the oligomeric state B. (C) In a DEST experiment a weak saturating field B_1 is applied at various offsets in the indirect dimension and the peak intensity on resonance is plotted against the frequency of B_1 . If the Y26 resonance was not in exchange B_1 would have an effect only when applied on resonance (green line). However, when exchange is active, saturation is transferred from state B to A, resulting a broader saturation profile (red line).

give information on the dynamics of the 'dark' state. Much like the CPMG experiment, in DEST the invisible NMR state can be detected by its effect on the sharp lines of the visible species [143,194].

The DEST approach is ideally suited to studies of protein aggregation since the equilibrium between the low and high molecular weight species can be tuned by adjusting the experimental conditions (for instance protein concentration, temperature and pH) and the exchange rate is expected to be slow. One such study was performed on AB40/42 [194]. Although no chemical shift differences were observed between 50 and 270 μ M A β , the T_2 relaxation rates were found to be elevated by $\sim 2 \text{ s}^{-1}$ in the more concentrated sample [194,195]. Biophysical analysis (EM and AUC) showed that at high protein concentrations the peptide is in exchange with protofibrils, and DEST experiments were used to analyze this equilibrium. Global fitting of DEST and T_2 relaxation data showed that a simple two state (monomer/fibril-bound) scheme is not sufficient to describe the experimental data. Instead, a pseudo-two state model had to be invoked [194]. In this model residues can be either in direct contact with the protofibril, or alternatively, are tethered to the protofibril indirectly by other regions of the same polypeptide chain that makes direct contact with the protofibril. Such an analysis yields the global k_{on} and k_{off} rates, as well as per residue tethering rates (k_3) , and the residue-specific R_2 of the bound state, essentially providing a complete picture of the exchange event [194]. For both $A\beta 40/42$ the N-terminal 8 residues were found to be tethered rather than directly bound, although differences between the two peptides were observed in the C-terminal region. Specifically, the C-terminal two residues of A^β42 are mobile, while the C-terminus participates in the core of AB40 fibrils [194]. These differences may be the origin of the increased nucleation rates of Αβ42 [194].

In general, DEST-type experiments (now further developed for methyl bearing side chains [196]) promise to provide crucial information about oligomer formation and surface-catalyzed secondary nucleation in amyloid formation [10,11,197], phenomena that are vitally important in our quest to understand amyloid assembly in structural and energetic terms.

4.3. Visualization of transient protein–protein interactions on pathway to fibril assembly using paramagnetic NMR

PRE methods provide sensitive probes able to detect heterogeneous and lowly populated species in solution (see Section 3.2). These studies can be used to analyze intra-molecular interactions by spin-labeling an NMR visible molecule (¹³C, ¹⁵N- or sparsely labeled) as in the case of IDPs (see Section 3.2), or by an inter-molecular interaction (by mixing a spin labeled but NMR-invisible (¹²C, ¹⁴N) molecule with an NMR-visible (¹³C, ¹⁵N) protein). In the latter case, the observed PRE effect measures protein-protein interactions, rather than intramolecular arrangements or motions. Intermolecular PRE studies, in combination with complementary NMR methodologies, have been used to study rare biomolecular interactions that lead to enhancement of the aggregation propensity of a poorly amyloidogenic protein (human β_2 m) by transient interaction with its aggregation-prone counterpart ($\Delta N6$) [84]. Similar experiments were also used to probe the inhibitory $\Delta N6$ -murine $\beta_2 m$ (m $\beta_2 m$) association [84]. In these experiments, NMR-invisible spin-labeled amyloidogenic $\Delta N6$ was mixed with NMR-visible less amyloidogenic variants of $\beta_2 m$ $(m\beta_2 m \text{ or } h\beta_2 m)$, allowing identification of the interfaces involved in inhibition or promotion of assembly, respectively [84]. Unexpectedly, it was shown that the interaction surfaces are similar for each complex, showing that the progress of assembly is governed by the precise chemical details of the interface. Specifically, inhibition occurs via rigid body docking of monomers in a head-to-head orientation to form kinetically trapped dimers. By contrast, the promotion of fibrillation involves relatively weak protein association in a similar orientation but, in this case, biomolecular collision results in conformational changes in the initially non-fibrillogenic partner. Even subtle differences in the mode of interaction (even though its epicenter remains the same) can thus cause a vastly different outcome of the interaction that defines the course of amyloid assembly (Fig. 9).

Similar phenomena have been observed in prions or prion-like proteins, wherein very similar proteins from different species are



Fig. 9. Transient protein–protein interactions in early amyloid assembly. $M\beta_2m$ binds $\Delta N6$ to create a head-to-head $\Delta N6:m\beta_2m$ complex which is kinetically trapped and thus not aggregation–prone (top). Upon interaction the binding partners remain rigid (top). On the other hand the amyloid–promoting $\Delta N6-h\beta_2m$ association, although it involves similar binding surfaces, results in conformational changes in $h\beta_2m$, which is primed for amyloid formation (bottom). Reproduced from [84].

either able to be converted into a prion-like state [9,198–201], or exhibit a species barrier [202–206]. Such systems, however, have yet to be studied in the detail achieved for the β_2 m assembly, by exploiting the power of paramagnetic NMR [84].

Inter-chain interactions between different monomers of α -synuclein have also been monitored using intermolecular PRE as described above [148]. Together, these reports demonstrate the power of modern NMR methods to shed light on important phenomena such as prion infectivity/transmissibility and prion

Table 1

H/D	exchange	studies	on	amvloid	aggregates	probed	bv	solution	NMR.
					00 0				

Amyloid precursor	Aggregation state	Reference
Αβ(25–35)	Fibril	[210]
Αβ(1-40)	Oligomers	[211]
Aβ(1-40) E22G	Fibrils	[212]
Αβ(1-42)	Fibrils	[213,214]
Acylphosphatase	Oligomers	[215]
α-Synuclein	Fibrils	[209]
α-Synuclein A30P	Fibrils	[216]
α-Synuclein (30–110)	Fibrils	[209]
$\beta_2 m$	Fibrils	[208,217-
		219]
Prion protein (106–126)	Fibrils	[220]
Prion protein (127–147)	Fibrils	[221]
RNAse A	Oligomers	[222]
SH3 domain	Oligomers	[223]
Cystatin	Fibrils/	[224]
	oligomers	
Sup35	Fibrils	[225]
CspA	Fibrils	[226]
HET-s (218–289)	Fibrils	[227–229]
TTR	Oligomers	[230]
TTR (Y114C)	Fibrils	[231]
Bacterial inclusion bodies (BMP2 (13–74) ^a , ESAT-6 ^b , MOG(ECD) ^c)	Fibrils	[232]

 $^{a}\,\beta\text{-sheet}$ fragment residues 13–74 of the secretory human bone morphogenetic protein-2.

^b Early secreted antigen 6-kDa protein.

^c The extracellular domain (ECD) of the human membrane protein myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein.

species barriers. They can also be used to explain why some amyloid precursors co-assemble while others do not. This remains a significant unanswered question in the amyloid field, especially in the context of the recent appreciation that different amyloid sequences may co-assemble in amyloid disease [207].

4.4. H/D exchange in the fibrillar state

The wealth of hydrogen bonds that stabilize the cross- β fold of amyloid renders these assemblies ideal for H/D exchange studies. However, the high molecular weight of the fibrillar aggregates precludes direct observation of the species that are subject to H/D exchange by solution NMR (only extremely mobile regions of fibrils, usually in loops and/or in the N- or C-terminal regions, can be observed [208,209]). To deal with this issue various strategies have been proposed, with the most common being solubilization of the fibrils in an aprotic, organic solvent after H/D exchange has taken place. In these experiments, protonated fibrils are introduced into deuterated buffers and H/D exchange is allowed to proceed for a period of time. At specific time-points aliquots are centrifuged to pellet the fibrils. The pellet is then freeze-dried and re-suspended in a 95% d₆-dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO)-5% D₂O solution to depolymerize the fibrils to monomeric subunits (DMSO is preferred as it does not contain any exchangeable protons). Analysis of each sample by 2D (¹H-¹⁵N) NMR is then performed to determine $k_{obs(j)}$ by fitting Eq. (10), and subsequently PF (Eq. (5)). Residues buried in the hydrophobic core of the fibril are expected to show a high PF in comparison with those that are not. Thus, DMSO quenched H/D exchange studies coupled with NMR spectroscopy represent a useful method to characterize fibril structure. Such studies have been performed on AB40/42, α -synuclein, β_2 m, transthyretin (TTR), HET-s and Sup35 and were used to identify the core and flexible regions of their fibrils. Importantly, H/D exchange studies are able to distinguish between different fibril types originating from the same protein precursor. Examples include β_2 m, and the SH3 domain (Table 1).

Apart from characterizing fibril structure, H/D exchange can be used to investigate the properties of intermediates formed during fibril assembly. Konuma et al. have used H/D exchange in combination with a stop-flow apparatus to study intermediates during fibril elongation of β_2 m at low pH (2.5) [233]. By carefully adjusting the pH of the reaction, H/D exchange or fibril elongation can be favored (competition H/D exchange) such that a per-residue image of kinetic intermediates formed during fibril elongation can be obtained. Such studies showed that fibril elongation commences by lateral association of an extended monomer conformation [233].

Amyloid fibrils are not static structures. Although the amyloidogenic proteins are trapped into a large macromolecular structure that appears stable thermodynamically and rigid macroscopically, each subunit can exhibit protein motions, not only in their side-chains, but also in their backbone atoms. In addition, fibrils are in equilibrium with monomeric or oligomeric species, and thus the model of H/D exchange for globular proteins presented in Section 2.3 needs to be reconsidered for such systems. Carulla et al. proposed a model for H/D exchange in which each fibril is in equilibrium between a non-exchangeable $(C_i)^{(j,H)}$ and an exchangeable form $(C_i)^{(j^*,H)}$ [234]. Once in the exchangeable form, all hydrogens exchange to deuterons with a first order rate constant $k_{ex(i)}$, (Eq. (9)). The observed rate of exchange $k_{obs(i)}$ is related to the observed rate of exchange of the monomer, $k_{obs(M)}$, corrected by a protection factor $PF_{(i)}$, to account for its incorporation into the specific fibril structure (Eq. (10)). The concentration of fully deuterated molecules at a given time into the H/D exchange experiments, increases exponentially as shown by Eq. (11).

$$(C_i)^{(j,\mathrm{H})} \stackrel{k_{(j)}}{\underset{k_{(j^*)}}{\longleftrightarrow}} (C_i)^{(j^*,\mathrm{H})} \stackrel{k_{\mathrm{ex}(j)}}{\xrightarrow{\longrightarrow}} (C_i)^{(j,\mathrm{D})}$$

$$(9)$$

where $(C_i)^{(j,H)}$ and $(C_i)^{(j^*,H)}$ represent the protonated exchangeable and non-exchangeable forms of the fibril, $(C_i)^{(j,D)}$ the deuterated fibrillar state. $k_{(j)}$ and $k_{(j^*)}$ are the forward and reverse rates for the $(C_i)^{(j,H)}$ to $(C_i)^{(j^*,H)}$ transition and $k_{ex(j)}$ is the rate of H/D exchange.

$$k_{\text{obs}(j)} = k_{\text{obs}(M)} / \text{PF}_{(j)} \tag{10}$$

where $k_{obs(j)}$, $k_{obs(M)}$ are the observed H/D exchange rates for the fibril and monomer respectively and $PF_{(j)}$ is the protection factor in the fibrillar state.

$$(C_i)^{(j,\mathsf{D})}(t) = (C_i)^{(j)}_{\text{tot}}[1 - \exp(-k_{\text{obs}(i)}t)]$$
(11)

This model can be used to explain processes such as fragmentation or molecular recycling through fibril ends. However, different two-state models have also been proposed to describe fibril elongation or species interacting with the fibrils [89,233].

5. Perspectives

Investigating the structural, kinetic and thermodynamic properties of the species formed during amyloid assembly in atomic detail is of crucial importance in our quest to understand the structural mechanisms of amyloid formation. NMR is the only technique capable of characterizing dynamic non-native states, as well as the transient and lowly populated species formed in the early stages of aggregation in atomistic detail. However, solution NMR suffers from its well-known molecular size limitation, which restricts its use (predominantly) to lower order species formed in the early stages of assembly. The use of specific amino acid precursors that result in sparse labeling of methyl groups of specific amino-acid precursors has be used recently to overcome these limitations [235]. As methyl groups have a shorter correlation time than the protein in which they are located, specific labeling in combination with transverse relaxation optimized techniques (Met-TROSY), can be used to investigate large macromolecular assemblies in solution, extending the range of structures detectable by solution NMR to ~ 1 MDa [192,236]. Such approaches have been successful in the characterization of large molecular machines [237-239], but have vet to be used to explore the structural properties of amyloid oligomers. The structural elucidation of oligomeric species can be greatly aided by PRE methods (discussed in Sections 3.2 and 4.2). Even though PRE techniques are well suited for the identification of interfaces, the extraction of exact distances in some cases is problematic due to the increased flexibility of the paramagnetic moiety [125]. The development of new paramagnetic tags may lead to better defined interatomic distances [134]. Recent advances in the field of computational biology also hold great promise for enhancing our understanding of amyloid formation. Molecular dynamics (MD) simulations can now be extended to the ms timescale [240], making the simulation of protein dynamics that drive the formation of amyloidogenic intermediates possible. The development of accurate docking algorithms is also helping to model the polymerization of these species restrained by the plethora of data now available from using different NMR techniques [241-243]. Restraints from EM, SAXS and mass-spectrometry (MS) can provide crucial additional structural information on the aggregation process [26,142]. Direct electron detection extends the resolution of EM to near atomic structures, while cross-linking the meta-stable species formed during assembly, followed by MS analysis, will aid the identification of interfaces in large macromolecular assemblies [244]. Double electron-electron resonance (DEER) electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR) can also be used to probe distances up to 5 or 10 nm between two paramagnetic centers. DEER restraints, therefore, are ideal to complement NMR restraints in MD simulations or structure calculation protocols [245]. A combination of solution-, solid-state NMR, EM, MS, EPR and also single molecule Förster resonance energy transfer (FRET) restraints together promise to shed light on the mechanisms of aggregation and to reveal why, and how, normally innocuous and functional proteins can convert into amyloidogenic conformers that self-assemble and cause devastating diseases.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Anastasia Zhuravleva and all the past and present members of the Radford laboratory for stimulating discussions. We acknowledge funding from the Wellcome Trust (089311/z/09/z) and the European Research Council under the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme (FP7/ 2007-2013) (ERC grant number 322408) for funding TKK and SER. We also acknowledge the Wellcome Trust for funding the NMR facility at the University of Leeds (094232).

References

- D. Eisenberg, M. Jucker, The amyloid state of proteins in human diseases, Cell 148 (2012) 1188–1203.
- [2] T.P.J. Knowles, M. Vendruscolo, C.M. Dobson, The amyloid state and its association with protein misfolding diseases, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 15 (2014) 384–396.
- [3] C.M. Dobson, Protein folding and misfolding, Nature 426 (2003) 884–890.
- [4] G. Marcon, G. Plakoutsi, F. Chiti, Protein aggregation starting from the native globular state, Methods Enzymol. 413 (2006) 75–91.
- [5] F. Chiti, C.M. Dobson, Amyloid formation by globular proteins under native conditions, Nat. Chem. Biol. 5 (2009) 15–22.
- [6] F. Ferrone, Analysis of protein aggregation kinetics, Methods Enzymol. 309 (1999) 256–274.
- [7] H. Naiki, F. Gejyo, Kinetic analysis of amyloid fibril formation, Methods Enzymol. 309 (1999) 305–318.
- [8] A.J. Geddes, K.D. Parker, E.D. Atkins, E. Beighton, "Cross-β" conformation in proteins, J. Mol. Biol. 32 (1968) 343–358.
- [9] T. Eichner, S.E. Radford, A diversity of assembly mechanisms of a generic amyloid fold, Mol. Cell 43 (2011) 8–18.
- [10] S.I.A. Cohen, S. Linse, L.M. Luheshi, E. Hellstrand, D.A. White, L. Rajah, et al., Proliferation of amyloid-42 aggregates occurs through a secondary nucleation mechanism, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 110 (2013) 9758–9763.

- [11] T.P.J. Knowles, C.A. Waudby, G.L. Devlin, S.I.A. Cohen, A. Aguzzi, M. Vendruscolo, et al., An analytical solution to the kinetics of breakable filament assembly, Science 326 (2009) 1533–1537.
- [12] W.F. Xue, S.W. Homans, S.E. Radford, Systematic analysis of nucleationdependent polymerization reveals new insights into the mechanism of amyloid self-assembly, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 105 (2008) 8926–8931.
- [13] A.M. Ruschak, A.D. Miranker, Fiber-dependent amyloid formation as catalysis of an existing reaction pathway, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 104 (2007) 12341–12346.
- [14] A.S. Cohen, E. Calkins, Electron microscopic observations on a fibrous component in amyloid of diverse origins, Nature 183 (1959) 1202.
- [15] R.D. Terry, N.K. Gonatas, M. Weiss, Ultrastructural studies in Alzheimer's presenile dementia, Am. J. Pathol. 44 (1964) 269–297.
- [16] J.D. Sipe, A.S. Cohen, Review: history of the amyloid fibril, J. Struct. Biol. 130 (2000) 88–98.
- [17] M. Sunde, C. Blake, The structure of amyloid fibrils by electron microscopy and X-ray diffraction, Adv. Prot. Chem. 50 (1997) 123–159.
- [18] M.M. Sunde, L.C.L. Serpell, M.M. Bartlam, P.E.P. Fraser, M.B.M. Pepys, C.C.C. Blake, Common core structure of amyloid fibrils by synchrotron X-ray diffraction, J. Mol. Biol. 273 (1997) 11.
- [19] M.R. Sawaya, S. Sambashivan, R. Nelson, M.I. Ivanova, S.A. Sievers, M.I. Apostol, et al., Atomic structures of amyloid cross-β spines reveal varied steric zippers, Nature 447 (2007) 453–457.
- [20] G.T. Debelouchina, G.W. Platt, M.J. Bayro, S.E. Radford, R.G. Griffin, Intermolecular alignment in β₂-microglobulin amyloid fibrils, J. Am. Chem. Soc. (2010).
- [21] C. Wasmer, A. Lange, H. Van Melckebeke, A.B. Siemer, R. Riek, B.H. Meier, Amyloid fibrils of the HET-s(218–289) prion form a β-solenoid with a triangular hydrophobic core, Science 319 (2008) 1523–1526.
- [22] R. Tycko, Characterization of amyloid structures at the molecular level by solid state nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy, Methods Enzymol. 413 (2006) 103–122.
- [23] R. Tycko, Solid-state NMR studies of amyloid fibril structure, Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem. 62 (2011) 279–299.
- [24] R. Nelson, M.R. Sawaya, M. Balbirnie, A.O. Madsen, C. Riekel, R. Grothe, et al., Structure of the cross-β spine of amyloid-like fibrils, Nature 435 (2005) 773– 778.
- [25] Y. Su, C.J. Sarell, M.T. Eddy, G.T. Debelouchina, L.B. Andreas, C.L. Pashley, et al., Secondary structure in the core of amyloid fibrils formed from human β2m and its truncated variant ΔN6, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 136 (2014) 6313–6325.
- [26] A.W.P. Fitzpatrick, G.T. Debelouchina, M.J. Bayro, D.K. Clare, M.A. Caporini, V.S. Bajaj, et al., Atomic structure and hierarchical assembly of a cross-β amyloid fibril, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 110 (2013) 5468–5473.
- [27] T. Eichner, A.P. Kalverda, G.S. Thompson, S.W. Homans, S.E. Radford, Conformational conversion during amyloid formation at atomic resolution, Mol. Cell 41 (2011) 161–172.
- [28] D. Eliezer, E. Kutluay, R. Bussell Jr., G. Browne, Conformational properties of α -synuclein in its free and lipid-associated states, J. Mol. Biol. 307 (2001) 1061–1073.
- [29] K.-P. Wu, J. Baum, Backbone assignment and dynamics of human α -synuclein in viscous 2 M glucose solution, Biomol. NMR Assign. 5 (2011) 43–46.
- [30] D. Lee, C. Hilty, G. Wider, K. Wüthrich, Effective rotational correlation times of proteins from NMR relaxation interference, J. Magn. Res. 178 (2006) 72–76.
- [31] D.F. Hansen, P. Vallurupalli, L.E. Kay, Using relaxation dispersion NMR spectroscopy to determine structures of excited, invisible protein states, J. Biomol. NMR 41 (2008) 113–120.
- [32] A.J. Baldwin, L.E. Kay, NMR spectroscopy brings invisible protein states into focus, Nat. Chem. Biol. 5 (2009) 808-814.
- [33] H. Carr, E. Purcell, Effects of diffusion on free precession in nuclear magnetic resonance experiments, Phys. Rev. 94 (1954) 630–638.
- [34] S. Meiboom, D. Gill, Modified spin-echo method for measuring nuclear relaxation times, Rev. Sci. Instrum. 29 (1958) 688-691.
- [35] A. Sekhar, L.E. Kay, NMR paves the way for atomic level descriptions of sparsely populated, transiently formed biomolecular conformers, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 110 (2013) 12867–12874.
- [36] G. Bouvignies, P. Vallurupalli, D.F. Hansen, B.E. Correia, O. Lange, A. Bah, et al., Solution structure of a minor and transiently formed state of a T4 lysozyme mutant, Nature 477 (2011) 111–114.
- [37] P. Vallurupalli, D.F. Hansen, L.E. Kay, Structures of invisible, excited protein states by relaxation dispersion NMR spectroscopy, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 105 (2008) 11766–11771.
- [38] D.M. Korzhnev, T.L. Religa, W. Banachewicz, A.R. Fersht, L.E. Kay, A transient and low-populated protein-folding intermediate at atomic resolution, Science 329 (2010) 1312–1316.
- [39] Y. Shen, O. Lange, F. Delaglio, P. Rossi, J.M. Aramini, G. Liu, et al., Consistent blind protein structure generation from NMR chemical shift data, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 105 (2008) 4685–4690.
- [40] P. Neudecker, P. Robustelli, A. Cavalli, P. Walsh, P. Lundstrom, A. Zarrine-Afsar, et al., Structure of an intermediate state in protein folding and aggregation, Science 336 (2012) 362–366.
- [41] D.M. Korzhnev, X. Salvatella, M. Vendruscolo, A.A. Di Nardo, A.R. Davidson, C.M. Dobson, et al., Low-populated folding intermediates of Fyn SH3 characterized by relaxation dispersion NMR, Nature 430 (2004) 586–590.
- [42] S. Mukherjee, S.P. Pondaven, C.P. Jaroniec, Conformational flexibility of a human immunoglobulin light chain variable domain by relaxation dispersion nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy: implications for protein

misfolding and amyloid assembly, Biochemistry 50 (2011) 5845–5857.

- [43] K.H. Lim, H.J. Dyson, J.W. Kelly, P.E. Wright, Localized structural fluctuations promote amyloidogenic conformations in transthyretin, J. Mol. Biol. 425 (2013) 977–988.
- [44] G. Plakoutsi, N. Taddei, M. Stefani, F. Chiti, Aggregation of the acylphosphatase from *Sulfolobus solfataricus*: the folded and partially unfolded states can both be precursors for amyloid formation, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 14111–14119.
- [45] G. Bouvignies, D.F. Hansen, P. Vallurupalli, L.E. Kay, Divided-evolution-based pulse scheme for quantifying exchange processes in proteins: powerful complement to relaxation dispersion experiments, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 133 (2011) 1935–1945.
- [46] A.J. Baldwin, P. Walsh, D.F. Hansen, G.R. Hilton, J.L.P. Benesch, S. Sharpe, et al., Probing dynamic conformations of the high-molecular-weight α B-crystallin heat shock protein ensemble by NMR spectroscopy, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 134 (2012) 15343–15350.
- [47] J.L. Neira, NMR as a tool to identify and characterize protein folding intermediates, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. (2012) 1–10.
- [48] J. Balbach, V. Forge, N.A.J. van Nuland, S.L. Winder, P.J. Hore, C.M. Dobson, Following protein folding in real time using NMR spectroscopy, Nat. Struct. Biol. 2 (1995) 865–870.
- [49] J. Balbach, V. Forge, W.S. Lau, N.A.J. van Nuland, K. Brew, C.M. Dobson, Protein folding monitored at individual residues during a two-dimensional NMR experiment, Science 274 (1996) 1161–1163.
- [50] P. Schanda, E. Kupče, B. Brutscher, SOFAST-HMQC experiments for recording two-dimensional heteronuclear correlation spectra of proteins within a few seconds, J. Biomol. NMR 33 (2005) 199–211.
- [51] P. Schanda, B. Brutscher, Very fast two-dimensional NMR spectroscopy for real-time investigation of dynamic events in proteins on the time scale of seconds, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 127 (2005) 8014–8015.
- [52] M. Mayzel, J. Rosenlöw, L. Isaksson, V.Y. Orekhov, Time-resolved multidimensional NMR with non-uniform sampling, J. Biomol. NMR 58 (2014) 129–139.
- [53] M.A. Saper, P.J. Bjorkman, D.C. Wiley, Refined structure of the human histocompatibility antigen HLA-A2 at 2.6 Å resolution, J. Mol. Biol. 219 (1991) 277–319.
- [54] R.N. Germain, Immunology. The ins and outs of antigen processing and presentation, Nature 322 (1986) 687–689.
- $\mbox{[56]}$ J. Floege, G. Ehlerding, $\beta_2\mbox{-microglobulin-associated amyloidosis}, Nephron 72 (1996) 9–26.$
- [57] J. Kay, β_2 -microglobulin amyloidosis in renal failure: understanding this recently recognized condition, Cleve Clin. J. Med. 66 (1999) 145–147.
- [58] S. Otsubo, N. Kimata, I. Okutsu, K. Oshikawa, S. Ueda, H. Sugimoto, et al., Characteristics of dialysis-related amyloidosis in patients on haemodialysis therapy for more than 30 years, Nephrol. Dial. Transplant. 24 (2009) 1593– 1598.
- [59] R.P. Linke, J. Schäeffer, P. Gielow, P. Lindner, F. Lottspeich, A. Plückthun, et al., Production of recombinant human β₂-microglobulin for scintigraphic diagnosis of amyloidosis in uremia and hemodialysis, Eur. J. Biochem. 267 (2000) 627–633.
- [60] A. Kameda, M. Hoshino, T. Higurashi, S. Takahashi, H. Naiki, Y. Goto, Nuclear magnetic resonance characterization of the refolding intermediate of β₂microglobulin trapped by non-native prolyl peptide bond, J. Mol. Biol. 348 (2005) 383–397.
- [62] T.R. Jahn, M.J. Parker, S.W. Homans, S.E. Radford, Amyloid formation under physiological conditions proceeds via a native-like folding intermediate, Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 13 (2006) 195–201.
- [63] F. Chiti, E. De Lorenzi, S. Grossi, P. Mangione, S. Giorgetti, G. Caccialanza, et al., A partially structured species of β_2 -microglobulin is significantly populated under physiological conditions and involved in fibrillogenesis, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 46714–46721.
- [64] K. Domanska, S. Vanderhaegen, V. Srinivasan, E. Pardon, F. Dupeux, J.A. Marquez, et al., Atomic structure of a nanobody-trapped domain-swapped dimer of an amyloidogenic β2-microglobulin variant, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 108 (2011) 1314–1319.
- [65] E. Rennella, T. Cutuil, P. Schanda, I. Ayala, V. Forge, B. Brutscher, Real-time NMR characterization of structure and dynamics in a transiently populated protein folding intermediate, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 134 (2012) 8066–8069.
- [67] T. Eichner, S.E. Radford, Understanding the complex mechanisms of β_2 -microglobulin amyloid assembly, FEBS J. 278 (2011) 3868–3883.
- [68] T. Eichner, S.E. Radford, A generic mechanism of β_2 -microglobulin amyloid assembly at neutral pH involving a specific proline switch, J. Mol. Biol. 386 (2009) 1312–1326.

- [69] T. Karamanos, Biomolecular Recognition and Protein Dynamics in Amyloid Aggregation, PhD Thesis, University of Leeds (Astbury Centre for Structural Molecular Biology), 2013.
- [70] K.H. Mok, T. Nagashima, I.J. Day, P.J. Hore, C.M. Dobson, Multiple subsets of side-chain packing in partially folded states of α-lactalbumins, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 102 (2005) 8899–8904.
- [71] P. Schanda, V. Forge, B. Brutscher, Protein folding and unfolding studied at atomic resolution by fast two-dimensional NMR spectroscopy, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 104 (2007) 11257–11262.
- [72] J. Goers, S.E. Permyakov, E.A. Permyakov, V.N. Uversky, A.L. Fink, Conformational prerequisites for α-lactalbumin fibrillation 41 (2002) 12546–12551.
- [73] S.W. Englander, N.R. Kallenbach, Hydrogen exchange and structural dynamics of proteins and nucleic acids, Quart. Rev. Biophys. 16 (1983) 521–655.
- [74] S.W. Englander, L. Mayne, Protein folding studied using hydrogen-exchange labeling and two-dimensional NMR, Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biomol. Struct. 21 (1992) 243–265.
- [75] Y. Bai, T.R. Sosnick, L. Mayne, S.W. Englander, Protein folding intermediates: native-state hydrogen exchange, Science 269 (1995) 192–197.
- [76] S.W. Englander, Protein folding intermediates and pathways studied by hydrogen exchange, Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biomol. Struct. 29 (2013) 213–238.
- [77] M. Okon, P. Bray, D. Vucelić, ¹H NMR assignments and secondary structure of human β₂-microglobulin in solution, Biochemistry 31 (1992) 8906–8915.
- [78] J.A. Jarvis, A. Kirkpatrick, D.J. Craik, ¹H NMR analysis of fibril-forming peptide fragments of transthyretin, Int. J. Pept. Protein Res. 44 (1994) 388–398.
- [79] T. Richa, T. Sivaraman, OneG: a computational tool for predicting cryptic intermediates in the unfolding kinetics of proteins under native conditions, PLoS ONE 7 (2012) e32465.
- [80] T.-L. Hwang, S. Mori, A.J. Shaka, P.C.M. van Zijl, Application of phasemodulated CLEAN chemical EXchange Spectroscopy (CLEANEX-PM) to detect water-protein proton exchange and intermolecular NOEs, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 119 (1997) 6203–6204.
- [81] N.C. Fitzkee, D.A. Torchia, A. Bax, Measuring rapid hydrogen exchange in the homodimeric 36 kDa HIV-1 integrase catalytic core domain, Protein Sci. 20 (2011) 500–512.
- [82] I. Shimada, NMR techniques for identifying the interface of a larger proteinprotein complex: cross-saturation and transferred cross-saturation experiments, in: T.L. James (Ed.), Nuclear Magnetic Resonance of Biological Macromolecules, Academic Press, 2005, pp. 483–506.
- [83] S.J. Park, B.N. Borin, M.A. Martinez-Yamout, H.J. Dyson, The client protein p53 adopts a molten globule-like state in the presence of Hsp90, Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 18 (2011) 537–541.
- [84] T.K. Karamanos, A.P. Kalverda, G.S. Thompson, S.E. Radford, Visualization of transient protein–protein interactions that promote or inhibit amyloid assembly, Mol. Cell 55 (2014) 214–226.
- [85] J. Danielsson, R. Pierattelli, L. Banci, A. Graslund, High-resolution NMR studies of the zinc-binding site of the Alzheimer's amyloid beta-peptide, FEBS J. 274 (2007) 46–59.
- [86] H. Shao, S. Jao, K. Ma, M.G. Zagorski, Solution structures of micelle-bound amyloid beta-(1-40) and beta-(1-42) peptides of Alzheimer's disease, J. Mol. Biol. 285 (1999) 755-773.
- [87] R.L. Croke, C.O. Sallum, E. Watson, E.D. Watt, A.T. Alexandrescu, Hydrogen exchange of monomeric α-synuclein shows unfolded structure persists at physiological temperature and is independent of molecular crowding in *Escherichia coli*, Prot. Sci. 17 (2008) 1434–1445.
- [88] E. Rennella, A. Corazza, F. Fogolari, P. Viglino, S. Giorgetti, M. Stoppini, et al., Equilibrium unfolding thermodynamics of β₂-microglobulin analyzed through native-state H/D exchange, Biophys. J. 96 (2009) 169–179.
- [89] K. Yanagi, K. Sakurai, Y. Yoshimura, T. Konuma, Y.H. Lee, K. Sugase, et al., The monomer-seed interaction mechanism in the formation of the β₂microglobulin amyloid fibril clarified by solution NMR techniques, J. Mol. Biol. 422 (2012) 390–402.
- [90] D.D. Canet, A.M.A. Last, P.P. Tito, M.M. Sunde, A.A. Spencer, D.B.D. Archer, et al., Local cooperativity in the unfolding of an amyloidogenic variant of human lysozyme, Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 9 (2002) 308–315.
- [91] M. Dumoulin, D. Canet, A.M. Last, E. Pardon, D.B. Archer, S. Muyldermans, et al., Reduced global cooperativity is a common feature underlying the amyloidogenicity of pathogenic lysozyme mutations, J. Mol. Biol. 346 (2005) 773–788.
- [92] L.L.P. Hosszu, N.J. Baxter, G.S. Jackson, A. Power, J.P. Waltho, C.J. Craven, et al., Structural mobility of the human prion protein probed by backbone hydrogen exchange, Nat. Struct. Biol. 6 (1999) 740–743.
- [93] K. Liu, J.W. Kelly, D.E. Wemmer, Native state hydrogen exchange study of suppressor and pathogenic variants of transthyretin, J. Mol. Biol. 320 (2002) 821–832.
- [94] Y.-H. Lee, Y. Goto, Kinetic intermediates of amyloid fibrillation studied by hydrogen exchange methods with nuclear magnetic resonance, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 2012 (1824) 1307–1323.
- [95] D. Long, G. Bouvignies, L.E. Kay, Measuring hydrogen exchange rates in invisible protein excited states, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 111 (2014) 8820– 8825.
- [96] K. Henzler-Wildman, D. Kern, Dynamic personalities of proteins, Nature 450 (2007) 964–972.
- [97] A.G. Palmer III, NMR probes of molecular dynamics: overview and comparison with other techniques, Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biomol. Struct. 30 (2013) 129–155.

- [98] E.Z. Eisenmesser, D.A. Bosco, M. Akke, D. Kern, Enzyme dynamics during catalysis, Science 295 (2002) 1520–1523.
- [99] I. Gelis, A.M.J.J. Bonvin, D. Keramisanou, M. Koukaki, G. Gouridis, S. Karamanou, et al., Structural basis for signal-sequence recognition by the translocase motor SecA as determined by NMR, Cell 131 (2007) 756–769.
- [100] N. Tokuriki, D.S. Tawfik, Protein dynamism and evolvability, Science 324 (2009) 203-207.
- [101] M.P. Williamson, J.R. Potts, Intrinsically disordered proteins: administration not executive, Biochem. Soc. Trans. 40 (2012) 945–949.
- [102] A.K. Dunker, I. Silman, V.N. Uversky, J.L. Sussman, Function and structure of inherently disordered proteins, Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 18 (2008) 756–764.
- [103] R.S. Spolar, M.T. Record, Coupling of local folding to site-specific binding of proteins to DNA, Science 263 (1994) 777-784.
- [104] H.J. Dyson, P.E. Wright, Intrinsically unstructured proteins and their functions, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 6 (2005) 197–208.
- [105] T. Mittag, L.E. Kay, J.D. Forman-Kay, Protein dynamics and conformational disorder in molecular recognition, J. Mol. Recogn. 23 (2010) 105–116.
- [106] M.A. Breidenbach, A.T. Brunger, Substrate recognition strategy for botulinum neurotoxin serotype A, Nature 432 (2004) 925–929.
- [107] N. Tokuriki, C.J. Oldfield, V.N. Uversky, I.N. Berezovsky, D.S. Tawfik, Do viral proteins possess unique biophysical features?, Trans Biochem. Sci. 34 (2009) 53–59.
- [108] P.R. Romero, S. Zaidi, Y.Y. Fang, V.N. Uversky, P. Radivojac, C.J. Oldfield, et al., Alternative splicing in concert with protein intrinsic disorder enables increased functional diversity in multicellular organisms, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 103 (2006) 8390–8395.
- [109] J.J. Ward, J.S. Sodhi, L.J. McGuffin, B.F. Buxton, D.T. Jones, Prediction and functional analysis of native disorder in proteins from the three kingdoms of life, J. Mol. Biol. 337 (2004) 635–645.
- [110] S. Yamamoto, K. Hasegawa, I. Yamaguchi, S. Tsutsumi, J. Kardos, Y. Goto, et al., Low concentrations of sodium dodecyl sulfate induce the extension of β_{2} microglobulin-related amyloid fibrils at a neutral pH, Biochemistry 43 (2004) 11075–11082.
- [111] S. Yamamoto, K. Hasegawa, I. Yamaguchi, Y. Goto, F. Gejyo, H. Naiki, Kinetic analysis of the polymerization and depolymerization of β₂microglobulin-related amyloid fibrils in vitro, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1753 (2005) 34–43.
- [112] N.M. Kad, S.L. Myers, D.P. Smith, D. Alastair Smith, S.E. Radford, N.H. Thomson, Hierarchical assembly of β_2 -microglobulin amyloid in vitro revealed by atomic force microscopy, J. Mol. Biol. 330 (2003) 785–797.
- [113] J.D. Sipe, M.D. Benson, J.N. Buxbaum, S.-I. Ikeda, G. Merlini, M.J.M. Saraiva, et al., Nomenclature 2014: amyloid fibril proteins and clinical classification of the amyloidosis, Amyloid 21 (2014) (2014) 221–224.
- [114] M.R. Jensen, M. Zweckstetter, J.-R. Huang, M. Blackledge, Exploring freeenergy landscapes of intrinsically disordered proteins at atomic resolution using NMR spectroscopy, Chem. Rev. 114 (2014) 6632–6660.
- [115] D.S. Wishart, B.D. Sykes, F.M. Richards, The chemical shift index: a fast and simple method for the assignment of protein secondary structure through NMR spectroscopy, Biochemistry 31 (1992) 1647–1651.
- [116] M. Kjaergaard, F.M. Poulsen, Sequence correction of random coil chemical shifts: correlation between neighbor correction factors and changes in the Ramachandran distribution, J. Biomol. NMR 50 (2011) 157–165.
- [117] M. Kjaergaard, F. Poulsen, B. Kragelund, Temperature-induced transitions in disordered proteins probed by NMR spectroscopy, in: V.N. Uversky, A.K. Dunker (Eds.), Methods Mol. Biol., Springer, New York, NY, 2012, pp. 233– 247.
- [118] J.H. Prestegard, S.C. Sahu, W.K. Nkari, L.C. Morris, D. Live, C. Gruta, Chemical shift prediction for denatured proteins, J. Biomol. NMR 55 (2013) 201–209.
- [119] B. Han, Y. Liu, S.W. Ginzinger, D.S. Wishart, SHIFTX2: significantly improved protein chemical shift prediction, J. Biomol. NMR 50 (2011) 43–57.
- [120] Y. Shen, A. Bax, SPARTA+: a modest improvement in empirical NMR chemical shift prediction by means of an artificial neural network, J. Biomol. NMR 48 (2010) 13–22.
- [121] K.J. Kohlhoff, P. Robustelli, A. Cavalli, X. Salvatella, M. Vendruscolo, Fast and accurate predictions of protein NMR chemical shifts from interatomic distances, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 131 (2009) 13894–13895.
 [122] D.-W. Li, R. Brüschweiler, PPM: a side-chain and backbone chemical shift
- [122] D.-W. Li, R. Brüschweiler, PPM: a side-chain and backbone chemical shift predictor for the assessment of protein conformational ensembles, J. Biomol. NMR 54 (2012) 257–265.
- [123] P. Robustelli, K.A. Stafford, A.G. Palmer III, Interpreting protein structural dynamics from NMR chemical shifts, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 134 (2012) 6365– 6374.
- [124] D. Long, D.-W. Li, K.F.A. Walter, C. Griesinger, R. Brüschweiler, Toward a predictive understanding of slow methyl group dynamics in proteins, Biophys. J. 101 (2011) 910–915.
- [125] G.M. Clore, J. Iwahara, Theory, practice, and applications of paramagnetic relaxation enhancement for the characterization of transient low-population states of biological macromolecules and their complexes, Chem. Rev. 109 (2009) 4108–4139.
- [126] M. John, M.J. Headlam, N.E. Dixon, G. Otting, Assignment of paramagnetic ¹⁵N-HSQC spectra by heteronuclear exchange spectroscopy, J. Biomol. NMR 37 (2006) 43–51.
- [127] I. Bertini, B. Jiménez, M. Piccioli, ¹³C direct detected experiments: optimization for paramagnetic signals, J. Magn. Res. 174 (2005) 125–132.
- [128] J.L. Battiste, G. Wagner, Utilization of site-directed spin labeling and highresolution heteronuclear nuclear magnetic resonance for global fold

determination of large proteins with limited nuclear Overhauser effect data, Biochemistry 39 (2000) 5355–5365.

- [129] C.D. Mackereth, T. Madl, S. Bonnal, B. Simon, K. Zanier, A. Gasch, et al., Multidomain conformational selection underlies pre-mRNA splicing regulation by U2AF, Nature 475 (2011) 408–411.
- [130] D. Gottstein, S. Reckel, V. Dötsch, P. Güntert, Requirements on paramagnetic relaxation enhancement data for membrane protein structure determination by NMR, Structure 20 (2012) 1019–1027.
- [131] B. Liang, J.H. Bushweller, L.K. Tamm, Site-directed parallel spin-labeling and paramagnetic relaxation enhancement in structure determination of membrane proteins by solution NMR spectroscopy, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 128 (2006) 4389–4397.
- [132] S.K. Singh, L. Möckel, P. Thiagarajan-Rosenkranz, M. Wittlich, D. Willbold, B.W. Koenig, Mapping the interaction between the cytoplasmic domains of HIV-1 viral protein U and human CD4 with NMR spectroscopy, FEBS J. 279 (2012) 3705–3714.
- [133] S.S. Wang, R.A.R. Munro, S.Y.S. Kim, K.-H.K. Jung, L.S.L. Brown, V.V. Ladizhansky, Paramagnetic relaxation enhancement reveals oligomerization interface of a membrane protein, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 134 (2012) 16995–16998.
- [134] C. Göbl, T. Madl, B. Simon, M. Sattler, NMR approaches for structural analysis of multidomain proteins and complexes in solution, Progr. Nucl. Magn. Res. Spectr. 80 (2014) 26–63.
- [135] J. Iwahara, C.D. Schwieters, G.M. Clore, Ensemble approach for NMR structure refinement against ¹H paramagnetic relaxation enhancement data arising from a flexible paramagnetic group attached to a macromolecule, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 126 (2004) 5879–5896.
- [136] M.R. Jensen, L. Salmon, G. Nodet, M. Blackledge, Defining conformational ensembles of intrinsically disordered and partially folded proteins directly from chemical shifts, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 132 (2010) 1270–1272.
- [137] C. Tang, C.D. Schwieters, G.M. Clore, Open-to-closed transition in apo maltose-binding protein observed by paramagnetic NMR, Nature 449 (2007) 1078–1082.
- [138] N.J.N. Anthis, M.M. Doucleff, G.M.G. Clore, Transient, sparsely populated compact states of apo and calcium-loaded calmodulin probed by paramagnetic relaxation enhancement: interplay of conformational selection and induced fit, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 133 (2011) 18966–18974.
- [139] J. Iwahara, C.D. Schwieters, G.M. Clore, Characterization of nonspecific protein–DNA interactions by ¹H paramagnetic relaxation enhancement, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 126 (2004) 12800–12808.
- [140] Y. Takayama, G.M. Clore, Interplay between minor and major groove-binding transcription factors Sox2 and Oct1 in translocation on DNA studied by paramagnetic and diamagnetic NMR, J. Biol. Chem. 287 (2012) 14349–14363.
- [141] Y. Takayama, G.M. Clore, Intra- and intermolecular translocation of the bidomain transcription factor Oct1 characterized by liquid crystal and paramagnetic NMR, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 108 (2011) 169–176.
- [142] M. Schwalbe, V. Ozenne, S. Bibow, M. Jaremko, L. Jaremko, M. Gajda, et al., Predictive atomic resolution descriptions of intrinsically disordered hTau40 and α -synuclein in solution from NMR and small angle scattering, Structure 22 (2014) 238–249.
- [143] N.J. Anthis, G.M. Clore, Visualizing transient dark states by NMR spectroscopy, Quart. Rev. Biophys. 48 (2015) 1–82.
- [144] J. Iwahara, G.M. Clore, Detecting transient intermediates in macromolecular binding by paramagnetic NMR, Nature 440 (2006) 1227–1230.
- [145] M.S. Ackerman, D. Shortle, Robustness of the long-range structure in denatured staphylococcal nuclease to changes in amino acid sequence, Biochemistry 41 (2002) 13791–13797.
- [146] M.M. Dedmon, K. Lindorff-Larsen, J. Christodoulou, M. Vendruscolo, C.M. Dobson, Mapping long-range interactions in α-synuclein using spin-label NMR and ensemble molecular dynamics simulations, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 127 (2005) 476–477.
- [147] B. Fauvet, M.-B. Fares, F. Samuel, I. Dikiy, A. Tandon, D. Eliezer, et al., Characterization of semisynthetic and naturally N α -acetylated α -synuclein in vitro and in intact cells: implications for aggregation and cellular properties of α -synuclein, J. Biol. Chem. 287 (2012) 28243–28262.
- [148] K.-P. Wu, J. Baum, Detection of transient interchain interactions in the intrinsically disordered protein α -synuclein by NMR paramagnetic relaxation enhancement, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 132 (2010) 5546–5547.
- [149] A. Bax, A. Grishaev, Weak alignment NMR: a hawk-eyed view of biomolecular structure, Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 15 (2005) 563–570.
- [150] M. Blackledge, Recent progress in the study of biomolecular structure and dynamics in solution from residual dipolar couplings, Progr. Nucl. Magn. Res. Spectr. 46 (2005) 23–61.
- [151] A. De Simone, R.W. Montalvao, M. Vendruscolo, Determination of conformational equilibria in proteins using residual dipolar couplings, J. Chem. Theory Comput. 7 (2011) 4189–4195.
- [152] R. Montalvao, C. Camilloni, A. De Simone, M. Vendruscolo, New opportunities for tensor-free calculations of residual dipolar couplings for the study of protein dynamics, J. Biomol. NMR 58 (2014) 233–238.
- [153] M. Ottiger, F. Delaglio, A. Bax, Measurement of J and dipolar couplings from simplified two-dimensional NMR spectra, J. Magn. Res. 131 (1998) 373–378.
- [154] R. Mohana-Borges, N.K. Goto, G.J.A. Kroon, H.J. Dyson, P.E. Wright, Structural characterization of unfolded states of apomyoglobin using residual dipolar couplings, J. Mol. Biol. 340 (2004) 1131–1142.
- [155] P. Bernadó, L. Blanchard, P. Timmins, D. Marion, R.W.H. Ruigrok, M. Blackledge, A structural model for unfolded proteins from residual dipolar

couplings and small-angle X-ray scattering, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 102 (2005) 17002–17007.

- [156] S. Meier, S. Güthe, T. Kiefhaber, S. Grzesiek, Foldon, The natural trimerization domain of T4 fibritin dissociates into a monomeric a-state form containing a stable β-hairpin: atomic details of trimer dissociation and local β-hairpin stability from residual dipolar couplings, J. Mol. Biol. 344 (2004) 1051–1069.
- [157] M.-K. Cho, H.-Y. Kim, P. Bernadó, C.O. Fernandez, M. Blackledge, M. Zweckstetter, Amino acid bulkiness defines the local conformations and dynamics of natively unfolded α-synuclein and tau, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 129 (2007) 3032–3033.
- [158] M. Louhivuori, K. Pääkkönen, K. Fredriksson, P. Permi, J. Lounila, A. Annila, On the origin of residual dipolar couplings from denatured proteins, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 125 (2003) 15647–15650.
- [159] P. Bernadó, C.W. Bertoncini, C. Griesinger, M. Zweckstetter, M. Blackledge, Defining long-range order and local disorder in native α-synuclein using residual dipolar couplings, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 127 (2005) 17968–17969.
- [160] M.D. Mukrasch, J. Biernat, M. von Bergen, C. Griesinger, E. Mandelkow, M. Zweckstetter, Sites of tau important for aggregation populate β-structure and bind to microtubules and polyanions, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 24978–24986.
- [161] L.C.T. Pierce, R. Salomon-Ferrer, C. Augusto, F. de Oliveira, J.A. McCammon, R.C. Walker, Routine access to millisecond time scale events with accelerated molecular dynamics, J. Chem. Theory Comput. 8 (2012) 2997–3002.
- [162] M.D. Mukrasch, P. Markwick, J. Biernat, M. von Bergen, P. Bernadó, C. Griesinger, et al., Highly populated turn conformations in natively unfolded tau protein identified from residual dipolar couplings and molecular simulation, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 129 (2007) 5235–5243.
- [163] M.R. Jensen, R.W. Ruigrok, M. Blackledge, Describing intrinsically disordered proteins at atomic resolution by NMR, Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 23 (2013) 426– 435.
- [164] G. Nodet, L. Salmon, V. Ozenne, S. Meier, M.R. Jensen, M. Blackledge, Quantitative description of backbone conformational sampling of unfolded proteins at amino acid resolution from NMR residual dipolar couplings, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 131 (2009) 17908–17918.
- [165] M. Krzeminski, J.A. Marsh, C. Neale, W.-Y. Choy, J.D. Forman-Kay, Characterization of disordered proteins with ENSEMBLE, Bioinformatics 29 (2013) 398–399.
- [166] T. Mittag, J.D. Forman-Kay, Atomic-level characterization of disordered protein ensembles, Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 17 (2007) 3–14.
- [167] C.W. Bertoncini, Y.-S. Jung, C.O. Fernandez, W. Hoyer, C. Griesinger, T.M. Jovin, et al., Release of long-range tertiary interactions potentiates aggregation of natively unstructured α-synuclein, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 102 (2005) 1430–1435.
- [168] T. Gurry, O. Ullman, C.K. Fisher, I. Perovic, T. Pochapsky, C.M. Stultz, The dynamic structure of α-synuclein multimers, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 135 (2013) 3865–3872.
- [169] F.F. Chiti, N.N. Taddei, M.M. Bucciantini, P.P. White, G.G. Ramponi, C.M.C. Dobson, Mutational analysis of the propensity for amyloid formation by a globular protein, EMBO J. 19 (2000) 1441–1449.
- [170] M. Belli, M. Ramazzotti, F. Chiti, Prediction of amyloid aggregation in vivo, EMBO Rep. 12 (2011) 657–663.
- [171] L.C. Serpell, J. Berriman, R. Jakes, M. Goedert, R.A. Crowther, Fiber diffraction of synthetic α-synuclein filaments shows amyloid-like cross-β conformation, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 97 (2000) 4897–4902.
- [172] L.C.F. Serpell, X-Ray Fiber Diffraction of Amyloid Fibrils, Academic Press, 1999.
- [173] A.T. Petkova, Y. Ishii, J.J. Balbach, O.N. Antzutkin, R.D. Leapman, F. Delaglio, et al., A structural model for Alzheimer's beta-amyloid fibrils based on experimental constraints from solid state NMR, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 99 (2002) 16742–16747.
- [174] İ. Bertini, L. Gonnelli, C. Luchinat, J. Mao, A. Nesi, A new structural model of Aβ40 fibrils, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 133 (2011) 16013–16022.
- [175] W.L. Klein, Aβ toxicity in Alzheimer's disease: globular oligomers (ADDLs) as new vaccine and drug targets, Neurochem. Int. 41 (2002) 345–352.
 [176] R. Kayed, E. Head, J.L. Thompson, T.M. McIntire, S.C. Milton, C.W. Cotman,
- [176] R. Kayed, E. Head, J.L. Thompson, T.M. McIntire, S.C. Milton, C.W. Cotman, et al., Common structure of soluble amyloid oligomers implies common mechanism of pathogenesis, Science 300 (2003) 486–489.
- [177] A. Demuro, I. Parker, Cytotoxicity of intracellular Aβ42 amyloid oligomers involves Ca²⁺ release from the endoplasmic reticulum by stimulated production of inositol trisphosphate, J. Neurosci. 33 (2013) 3824–3833.
- [178] N. Cremades, S.I.A. Cohen, E. Deas, A.Y. Abramov, A.Y. Chen, A. Orte, et al., Direct observation of the Interconversion of normal and toxic forms of αsynuclein, Cell 149 (2014) 1048–1059.
- [179] S. Campioni, B. Mannini, M. Zampagni, A. Pensalfini, C. Parrini, E. Evangelisti, et al., A causative link between the structure of aberrant protein oligomers and their toxicity, Nat. Chem. Biol. 6 (2010) 140–147.
- [180] A. Laganowsky, C. Liu, M.R. Sawaya, J.P. Whitelegge, J. Park, M. Zhao, et al., Atomic view of a toxic amyloid small oligomer, Science 335 (2012) 1228– 1231.
- [181] C.C. Liu, M.M. Zhao, L.L. Jiang, P.-N.P. Cheng, J.J. Park, M.R.M. Sawaya, et al., Out-of-register β-sheets suggest a pathway to toxic amyloid aggregates, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 109 (2012) 20913–20918.
- [182] Y. Suzuki, J.R. Brender, K. Hartman, A. Ramamoorthy, E.N.G. Marsh, Alternative pathways of human islet amyloid polypeptide aggregation distinguished by ¹⁹F nuclear magnetic resonance-detected kinetics of monomer consumption, Biochemistry 51 (2012) 8154–8162.

- [183] Y. Suzuki, J.R. Brender, M.T. Soper, J. Krishnamoorthy, Y. Zhou, B.T. Ruotolo, et al., Resolution of oligomeric species during the aggregation of Aβ 1–40 using ¹⁹F NMR, Biochemistry 52 (2013) 1903–1912.
- [184] S.T. Larda, K. Simonetti, M.S. Al-Abdul-Wahid, S. Sharpe, R.S. Prosser, Dynamic equilibria between monomeric and oligomeric misfolded states of the mammalian prion protein measured by ¹⁹F NMR, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 135 (2013) 10533–10541.
- [185] K. Schlepckow, H. Schwalbe, Molecular mechanism of prion protein oligomerization at atomic resolution, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 52 (2013) 10002–10005.
- [186] K.W. Tipping, T.K. Karamanos, T. Jakhria, M.G. Iadanza, S.C. Goodchild, R. Tuma, et al., PH-induced molecular shedding drives the formation of amyloid fibril-derived oligomers, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 112 (2015) 5691–5696.
- [187] I. Bertini, C. Luchinat, G. Parigi, E. Ravera, SedNMR: on the edge between solution and solid-state NMR, Acc. Chem. Res. 46 (2013) 2059–2069.
- [188] R. Linser, R. Sarkar, A. Krushelnitzky, A. Mainz, B. Reif, Dynamics in the solidstate: perspectives for the investigation of amyloid aggregates, membrane proteins and soluble protein complexes, J. Biomol. NMR 59 (2014) 1–14.
- [189] A. Mainz, T.L. Religa, R. Sprangers, R. Linser, L.E. Kay, B. Reif, NMR spectroscopy of soluble protein complexes at one mega-dalton and beyond, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 52 (2013) 8746–8751.
- [190] I. Bertini, G. Gallo, M. Korsak, C. Luchinat, J. Mao, E. Ravera, Formation kinetics and structural features of beta-amyloid aggregates by sedimented solute NMR, ChemBioChem 14 (2013) 1891–1897.
- [191] R. Rosenzweig, L.E. Kay, Bringing dynamic molecular machines into focus by methyl-TROSY NMR, Annu. Rev. Biochem. 83 (2014) 291–315.
- [192] N.L. Fawzi, J. Ying, D.A. Torchia, G.M. Clore, Probing exchange kinetics and atomic resolution dynamics in high-molecular-weight complexes using darkstate exchange saturation transfer NMR spectroscopy, Nat. Protoc. 7 (2012) 1523–1533.
- [193] B. Meyer, T. Peters, NMR spectroscopy techniques for screening and identifying ligand binding to protein receptors, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 42 (2003) 864–890.
- [194] N.L. Fawzi, J. Ying, R. Ghirlando, D.A. Torchia, G.M. Clore, Atomic-resolution dynamics on the surface of amyloid-β protofibrils probed by solution NMR, Nature 480 (2011) 268–272.
- [195] N.L. Fawzi, J. Ying, D.A. Torchia, G.M. Clore, Kinetics of amyloid β monomer-to-oligomer exchange by NMR relaxation, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 132 (2010) 9948–9951.
- [196] N.L. Fawzi, D.S. Libich, J. Ying, V. Tugarinov, G.M. Clore, Characterizing methyl-bearing side chain contacts and dynamics mediating amyloid β protofibril interactions using ¹³C methyl-DEST and lifetime line broadening, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 53 (2014) 10345–10349.
- [197] A.K. Buell, C. Galvagnion, R. Gaspar, E. Sparr, M. Vendruscolo, T.P.J. Knowles, et al., Solution conditions determine the relative importance of nucleation and growth processes in α-synuclein aggregation, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 111 (2014) 7671–7676.
- [198] P.M. Tessier, S. Lindquist, Unraveling infectious structures, strain variants and species barriers for the yeast prion [PSI+], Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 16 (2009) 598–605.
- [199] P. Chien, J.S. Weissman, A.H. DePace, Emerging principles of conformationbased prion inheritance, Annu. Rev. Biochem. 73 (2004) 617–656.
- [200] S. Prusiner, Novel proteinaceous infectious particles cause scrapie, Science 216 (1982) 136–144.
- [201] S.B. Prusiner, Prions, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 95 (1998) 13363–13383.
- [202] P. Chien, A.H. DePace, S.R. Collins, J.S. Weissman, Generation of prion transmission barriers by mutational control of amyloid conformations, Nature 424 (2003) 948–951.
- [203] P. Chien, J.S. Weissman, Conformational diversity in a yeast prion dictates its seeding specificity, Nature 410 (2001) 223–227.
- [204] B. Chen, G.P. Newnam, Y.O. Chernoff, Prion species barrier between the closely related yeast proteins is detected despite coaggregation, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 104 (2007) 2791–2796.
- [205] A.A. Santoso, P.P. Chien, L.Ž.L. Osherovich, J.S.J. Weissman, Molecular basis of a yeast prion species barrier, Cell 100 (2000) 277–288.
- [206] J. Greenwald, C. Buhtz, C. Ritter, W. Kwiatkowski, S. Choe, M.-L. Maddelein, et al., The mechanism of prion inhibition by HET-S, Mol. Cell 38 (2010) 889– 899.
- [207] C.J. Sarell, L.A. Woods, Y. Su, G.T. Debelouchina, A.E. Ashcroft, R.G. Griffin, et al., Expanding the repertoire of amyloid polymorphs by co-polymerization of related protein precursors, J. Biol. Chem. 288 (2013) 7327–7337.
- [208] M. Hoshino, H. Katou, Y. Hagihara, K. Hasegawa, H. Naiki, Y. Goto, Mapping the core of the β₂-microglobulin amyloid fibril by H/D exchange, Nat. Struct. Biol. 9 (2002) 332–336.
- [209] M. Vilar, H.-T. Chou, T. Lührs, S.K. Maji, D. Riek-Loher, R. Verel, et al., The fold of α-synuclein fibrils, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 105 (2008) 8637–8642.
- [210] J.H. Ippel, A. Olofsson, J. Schleucher, E. Lundgren, S.S. Wijmenga, Probing solvent accessibility of amyloid fibrils by solution NMR spectroscopy, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 99 (2002) 8648–8653.
- [211] D.V. Laurents, P.M. Gorman, M. Guo, M. Rico, A. Chakrabartty, M. Bruix, Alzheimer's Aβ40 studied by NMR at low pH reveals that sodium 4,4dimethyl-4-silapentane-1-sulfonate (DSS) binds and promotes β-ball oligomerization, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 3675–3685.
- [212] K. Brännström, A. Öhman, A. Olofsson, Aβ peptide fibrillar architectures controlled by conformational constraints of the monomer, PLoS ONE 6 (2011) e25157.

- [213] A. Olofsson, A.E. Sauer-Eriksson, A. Öhman, The solvent protection of Alzheimer amyloid-β-(1-42) fibrils as determined by solution NMR spectroscopy, J. Biol. Chem. 281 (2006) 477-483.
- [214] T. Luhrs, C. Ritter, M. Adrian, D. Riek-Loher, B. Bohrmann, H. Dobeli, et al., 3D structure of Alzheimer's amyloid-beta(1–42) fibrils, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 102 (2005) 17342–17347.
- [215] K. Pagano, F. Bemporad, F. Fogolari, G. Esposito, P. Viglino, F. Chiti, et al., Structural and dynamics characteristics of acylphosphatase from *Sulfolobus solfataricus* in the monomeric state and in the initial native-like aggregates, J. Biol. Chem. 285 (2010) 14689–14700.
- [216] M.-K. Cho, H.-Y. Kim, C.O. Fernandez, S. Becker, M. Zweckstetter, Conserved core of amyloid fibrils of wild type and A30P mutant α-synuclein, Prot. Sci. 20 (2011) 387–395.
- [217] Pre-steady-state kinetic analysis of the elongation of amyloid fibrils of β2microglobulin with tryptophan mutagenesis, 400 (2010) 1057–1066.
- [218] L. Skora, S. Becker, M. Zweckstetter, Molten globule precursor states are conformationally correlated to amyloid fibrils of human β₂-microglobulin, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 132 (2010) 9223–9225.
- [219] L. Skora, S. Becker, M. Zweckstetter, Characterization of amyloid fibrils of human β₂-microglobulin by high-resolution magic-angle spinning NMR, ChemBioChem 11 (2010) 1829–1832.
- [220] K. Kuwata, T. Matumoto, H. Cheng, K. Nagayama, T.L. James, H. Roder, NMRdetected hydrogen exchange and molecular dynamics simulations provide structural insight into fibril formation of prion protein fragment 106–126, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 100 (2003) 14790–14795.
- [221] N.-S. Lin, J.C.-H. Chao, H.-M. Cheng, F.-C. Chou, C.-F. Chang, Y.-R. Chen, et al., Molecular structure of amyloid fibrils formed by residues 127 to 147 of the human prion protein, Chemistry 16 (2010) 5492–5499.
- [222] C. Ercole, J.P. López-Alonso, J. Font, M. Ribó, M. Vilanova, D. Picone, et al., Crowding agents and osmolytes provide insight into the formation and dissociation of RNase A oligomers, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 506 (2011) 123– 129.
- [223] N. Carulla, M. Zhou, M. Arimon, M. Gairí, E. Giralt, C.V. Robinson, et al., Experimental characterization of disordered and ordered aggregates populated during the process of amyloid fibril formation, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 106 (2009) 7828–7833.
- [224] G.J. Morgan, S. Giannini, A.M. Hounslow, C.J. Craven, E. Zerovnik, V. Turk, et al., Exclusion of the native alpha-helix from the amyloid fibrils of a mixed alpha/beta protein, J. Mol. Biol. 375 (2008) 487–498.
- [225] B.H. Toyama, M.J.S. Kelly, J.D. Gross, J.S. Weissman, The structural basis of yeast prion strain variants, Nature 449 (2007) 233–237.
- [226] A.T. Alexandrescu, An NMR-based quenched hydrogen exchange investigation of model amyloid fibrils formed by cold shock protein A, Pac. Symp. Biocomput. (2001) 67–78.
- [227] C. Wasmer, A. Zimmer, R. Sabaté, A. Soragni, S.J. Saupe, C. Ritter, et al., Structural similarity between the prion domain of HET-s and a homologue can explain amyloid cross-seeding in spite of limited sequence identity, J. Mol. Biol. 402 (n.d.) 311–325.
- [228] C. Ritter, M.-L. Maddelein, A.B. Siemer, T. Lührs, M. Ernst, B.H. Meier, et al., Correlation of structural elements and infectivity of the HET-s prion, Nature 435 (2005) 844–848.
- [229] H. Van Melckebeke, P. Schanda, J. Gath, C. Wasmer, R. Verel, A. Lange, et al., Probing water accessibility in HET-s(218–289) amyloid fibrils by solid-state NMR, J. Mol. Biol. 405 (2011) 765–772.
- [230] K. Liu, H.S. Cho, H.A. Lashuel, J.W. Kelly, D.E. Wemmer, A glimpse of a possible amyloidogenic intermediate of transthyretin, Nat. Struct. Biol. 7 (2000) 754– 757.
- [231] A. Olofsson, J.H. Ippel, S.S. Wijmenga, E. Lundgren, A. Öhman, Probing solvent accessibility of transthyretin amyloid by solution NMR spectroscopy, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 5699–5707.
- [232] L. Wang, S.K. Maji, M.R. Sawaya, D. Eisenberg, R. Riek, Bacterial inclusion bodies contain amyloid-like structure, PLoS Biol. 6 (2008) e195.
 [233] T. Konuma, E. Chatani, M. Yagi, K. Sakurai, T. Ikegami, H. Naiki, et al.,
- [233] T. Konuma, E. Chatani, M. Yagi, K. Sakurai, T. Ikegami, H. Naiki, et al., Kinetic intermediates of β₂-microglobulin fibril elongation probed by pulse-labeling H/D exchange combined with NMR analysis, J. Mol. Biol. 405 (2011) 851–862.
- [234] N. Carulla, G.L. Caddy, D.R. Hall, J. Zurdo, M. Gairí, M. Feliz, et al., Molecular recycling within amyloid fibrils, Nature 436 (2005) 554–558.
- [235] V. Tugarinov, L.E. Kay, An isotope labeling strategy for methyl TROSY spectroscopy, J. Biomol. NMR 28 (2004) 165–172.
- [236] Y. Xu, S. Matthews, TROSY NMR spectroscopy of large soluble proteins, Top. Curr. Chem. 335 (2013) 97–119.
- [237] R. Rosenzweig, S. Moradi, A. Zarrine-Afsar, J.R. Glover, L.E. Kay, Unraveling the mechanism of protein disaggregation through a ClpB-DnaK interaction, Science 339 (2013) 1080–1083.
- [238] A. Zhuravleva, E.M. Clerico, L.M. Gierasch, An interdomain energetic tug-ofwar creates the allosterically active state in Hsp70 molecular chaperones, Cell 151 (2012) 1296–1307.
- [239] A. Zhuravleva, L.M. Gierasch, Allosteric signal transmission in the nucleotidebinding domain of 70-kDa heat shock protein (Hsp70) molecular chaperones, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 108 (2011) 6987–6992.
- [240] K. Lindorff-Larsen, S. Piana, R.O. Dror, D.E. Shaw, How fast-folding proteins fold, Science 334 (2011) 517–520.
- [241] P.L. Kastritis, K.M. Visscher, A.D.J. van Dijk, A.M.J.J. Bonvin, Solvated proteinprotein docking using Kyte-Doolittle-based water preferences, Proteins 81 (2012) 510–518.

- [242] P. Kastritis, A.J. van Dijk, A.J.J. Bonvin, Explicit treatment of water molecules in data-driven protein-protein docking: the solvated HADDOCKing approach, in: R. Baron (Ed.), Methods Mol. Biol., Springer, New York, NY, 2012, pp. 355– 374.
- [243] K.M. Visscher, P.L. Kastritis, A.M.J.J. Bonvin, Non-interacting surface solvation
- and dynamics in protein-protein interactions, Proteins 83 (2015) 445–458.
 [244] K. Rajabi, A.E. Ashcroft, S.E. Radford, Mass spectrometric methods to analyse the structural organization of macromolecular complexes, Methods. (2015), in press, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ymeth.2015.03.004.
- [245] G. Jeschke, DEER distance measurements on proteins, Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem. 63 (2012) 419–446.

Glossary of abbreviations

Å: Ångström

- AFM: atomic force microscopy
- AUC: analytical ultracentrifugation
- $A\beta$: amyloid-beta peptide
- CD: circular dichroism
- CPMD rd: Carr-Purcell-Meiboom-Gill relaxation dispersion
- CSA: chemical shift anisotropy

DNA: deoxyribonucleic acid

- DRA: dialysis-related amyloidosis
- DEER: double electron-electron resonance
- DEST: dark exchange saturation transfer
- EM: electron microscopy
- ESI-MS: electron-spray-ionisation mass spectrometry
- EPR: electron paramagnetic resonance
- FRET: Förster resonance energy transfer
- FTIR: Fourier-transform infrared
- *H/D exchange:* hydrogen-deuterium exchange
- HSQC: heteronuclear singe quantum coherence

HMQC: heteronuclear multiple quantum coherence $H\beta_2m$: human β_2m IDP: intrinsically disordered protein MAS: magic angle spinning MDa: mega-Dalton MHC-I: major histocompatibility complex-I MTSL: S-(2,2,5,5-tetramethyl-2,5-dihydro-1H-pyrrol-3-yl-oxyl)methyl methanesulfonothioate $M\beta_2m$: murine β_2m MD: molecular dynamics NMR: nuclear magnetic resonance nOe: nuclear Overhauser effect PBD: protein data bank pH: decimal cologarithm of hydrogen ppm: parts per million PRE: paramagnetic relaxation enhancement R_1 : longitudinal relaxation rate R_2 : transverse relaxation rate RDC: residual dipolar coupling RMSD: root mean square deviation SAXS: small angle X-ray scattering SedNMR: sedimentation NMR ssNMR: solid state NMR T₁: longitudinal relaxation time T_2 : transverse relaxation time TEM: transmission electron microscopy TROSY: transverse relaxation optimized spectroscopy TTR: transthyretin $\beta_2 m$: beta-2 microglobulin $\Delta \delta$: chemical shift difference

104